
Issued on: Wednesday, 16 September 2015

Senior Governance Officer David Taylor
for this meeting: 01302 736712

To all Members of the

COUNCIL

AGENDA

Notice is given that a  Meeting of the Council is to be held
 as follows:

 
VENUE:   Council Chamber, Floor 2, Civic Office, Doncaster
DATE:     Thursday, 24th September, 2015
TIME:      6.00 pm

(Please note the commencement time of the meeting)

Jo Miller
Chief Executive

ITEMS

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 
excluded at the meeting. 

3. Declarations of Interest, if any. 

4. Minutes of the Council Meeting held on 30th July, 2015 (Pages A.1 - 
A.21). 

1 - 22

5. To receive any announcements from the Chair of Council, the Mayor, 
Members of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service. 



A.     Items where the Public and Press may not be excluded. 

6. Questions from the public in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 
13:- 

(a) Question from Mr. D. Wright, 15 Chantry Close, Cantley, 
Doncaster, DN4 6RX, to the Mayor of Doncaster, Ros Jones:-

“Doncaster Council's Constitution allows for 'Question Time' 
sessions for public questions at Council meetings.

Will the Mayor agree to change the Constitution to also allow 
'Motions to Doncaster Council' sessions at Doncaster Council 
meetings?  The procedures could be similar to the 'Question 
Time' sessions.

This will enable Doncaster residents to bring forward positive 
suggestions directly to the Mayor in front of Doncaster 
Councillors and to members of the public both in the Council 
Chamber and by the new audio visual recordings at home.”

For Decision
7. Statutory Youth Justice Plan 2015/16. 23 - 66

8. Sheffield City Region Devolution Deal Update. 67 - 104

9. Appointment of a Member and Vice-Chair to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee. 

105 - 108

10. Audio Visual Recording of Council Meetings - Update Report. 109 - 114

11. To consider the following Motion, written notice of which has been 
given by Councillor James Hart and Seconded by Councillor Nick 
Allen, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 16.1:- 
“The Highways England Pinch Point Programme was first outlined in 
the 2011 Autumn Statement with a budget of £200 million and 
expanded by a further £100 million in the 2012 Autumn Statement.  
This programme addressed 19 pinch points across Yorkshire and the 
North East which required improvement to keep traffic flowing 
through the road network. Most of these projects have been 
completed successfully.  However, the A1 (M) in South Yorkshire 
remains untouched other than minor improvements to Junction 36.

This council calls upon the Chancellor of the Exchequer and 
Highways England to include improvements to the A1(M) in South 
Yorkshire in the 2015 Autumn Statement and this council will give 
cross-party commitment to lobby for improvements to this vital 
transport artery at all appropriate opportunities.”



12. To consider the following Motion, written notice of which has been 
given by Councillor Jane Nightingale and Seconded by Councillor Pat 
Knight, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 16:1:- 
“In July this year the Chancellor announced a change to the rent 
formula which will apply to all social housing rents, including 
affordable and social rents.  This follows a 60 per cent cut in the 
affordable housing grant implemented during the previous coalition 
government.

The Office for Budget Responsibility has suggested that around 
14,000 fewer ‘affordable homes’ will be built as a result of the change 
in the rent regime. 

At a time when more affordable housing is required in Doncaster, and 
across the country, this Council believes the Government’s action 
represents a backwards step in achieving the right balance of 
housing provision needed to support local residents.”

13. Questions by Elected Members in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules 15.2 and 15.3:- 

(i) Question on Notice to the Executive:-

None received for this meeting.

(ii) Questions without Notice to the Executive and the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, Councillor 
John Mounsey.

For Information

14. To receive the Minutes of the following Joint Authorities:- 115 - 148

A. Sheffield City Region Combined Authority held on 22nd June and 3rd August, 2015.

B. South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority held on 27th July, 2015 and Section 41 Briefing Notes 
for August and September, 2015.





 

A. 1 
 

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

COUNCIL MEETING 

30TH JULY, 2015 
 

A MEETING OF THE COUNCIL was held at the CIVIC OFFICE, WATERDALE, 
DONCASTER, on THURSDAY, 30TH JULY, 2015 at 6.00 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: 

Chair - Councillor Paul Wray 
Vice-Chair - Councillor David Nevett 

Mayor - Ros Jones 
Deputy Mayor - Councillor Glyn Jones 

 
Councillors Nick Allen, Nigel Ball, Iris Beech, Joe Blackham, Rachael Blake,  
Elsie Butler, Bev Chapman, John Cooke, Tony Corden, Jane Cox, Steve Cox, 
Jessie Credland, Linda Curran, George Derx, Nuala Fennelly, Neil Gethin,  
Sean Gibbons, Pat Haith, James Hart, John Healy, Charlie Hogarth,  
Mark Houlbrook, Eva Hughes, Alan Jones, R. Allan Jones, Majid Khan, Jane Kidd, 
Pat Knight, Sue Knowles, Chris McGuinness, Sue McGuinness, John McHale,  
Bill Mordue,  Jane Nightingale, Andy Pickering, Cynthia Ransome, Tony Revill, 
Kevin Rodgers, Craig Sahman, Alan Smith, Clive Stone, Austen White,  
Sue Wilkinson and Jonathan Wood. 
 
APOLOGIES 
 
Apologies for absence were received from the Councillors Phil Cole,  
Susan Durant, Rachel Hodson, Sandra Holland, Ken Keegan, Ted Kitchen, 
John Mounsey and Dave Shaw. 
 

22. RECENT DEATH OF MR. TONY STOREY, O.B.E., HONORARY FREEMAN 
OF THE BOROUGH AND FORMER HEADTEACHER OF HAYFIELD 
SCHOOL 

 
Elected Members, Officers and members of the public, observed a minute’s 
silence as a mark of respect and remembrance in relation to the recent death of 
Mr. Tony Storey, O.B.E., Honorary Freeman of the Borough and the former 
Headteacher of Hayfield School, who died suddenly in hospital on 3rd June, 
2015. 

 
23. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Councillor Rachael Blake declared an interest in relation to Agenda Item No. 
13, ‘Motion by Councillor Bill Mordue’, by virtue of being employed by HS2 
Limited. 

 
 
 



 

A. 2 
 

24. MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD ON 22ND MAY, 
2015 

 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Annual Meeting of Council held on 
22nd May, 2015, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member, be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

25. TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIR OF COUNCIL, 
THE MAYOR, MEMBERS OF THE CABINET OR THE HEAD OF THE PAID 
SERVICE 
 
The Chair of Council, Councillor Paul Wray, made the following  
Announcements:- 
 
“I am pleased to inform Elected Members and members of the public that 
Doncaster will be hosting Yorkshire Day this Saturday, 1st August, 2015.  
 
We are proud to welcome Civic Leaders from across the Yorkshire Region to 
join us for a programme of events that will begin with a parade through the 
Town Centre at 9.45am, led by Armthorpe Elmfield Band.  
 
The parade will pass by the Frenchgate Centre and will arrive at the Minster for 
a Service of Celebration at 10.45am.  All are welcome. 
 
There are activities in our award winning market, afternoon teas in the Mansion 
House and Doncaster Brewery is launching a keepsake beer. 
 
I hope you will all consider coming along and help us to showcase to the 
region, all that is good about Doncaster. 
 
I would also like to congratulate one of our youngsters, Bailey Matthews, who is 
only 8 years old and managed to complete a Triathlon on Saturday.  Bailey who 
has cerebral palsy, let go of his walking aid (walker) to finish the race unaided.  
Bailey is a very brave young man and we should applaud him.” 
 
The Mayor of Doncaster, Ros Jones, made the following announcement:- 
 
“Congratulations to Councillor John McHale and Tim Hazletine who have both 
received a ‘Locality 2015 Public Sector Hero award’.  Councillor McHale for the 
‘Keep it Local’ category and Tim Hazletine for the ‘Growing Community 
Enterprise’ category.  I am delighted that Doncaster is show casing what we 
can do.” 
 
On behalf of the Chief Executive who was unable to attend the meeting, Peter 
Dale, the Director of Regeneration and Environment, made the following 
announcement:- 
 
“I would like to introduce to Members, Damian Hall, the new Director of 
Learning Opportunities and Skills, who is here in the Chamber this evening.  
Damian formally starts in his post at the end of August.” 



 

A. 3 
 

 
 
Councillor Pat Knight, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Wellbeing, made 
the following announcement:- 
 
“The Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh is out for consultation.  If Members 
have not already received an email about this, they will be doing so shortly.  If 
any Members have any comments on the Strategy, they can respond via 
www.surveymonkey.com.” 
 
Councillor Bill Mordue, Cabinet Member for Business, Skills, Tourism and 
Culture, made the following announcement:- 
 
“I would like to provide Members with a brief update on the (International) Jet 
Ski event which was held last weekend at the Lakeside.  This is a good news 
story for Doncaster.  Our Jet Ski run attracted record numbers; 7 to 8,000 
visitors, 900 riders and support staff.  Apparently the weather on Sunday was 
appalling.  We have had a lot of publicity around this event.  The Yorkshire Post 
took some good pictures that were streamed to over 100 countries which 
provided some good images of Doncaster and in particular, the Lakeside.  
There were over 7,000 followers on social media.  The Jet Ski sport has huge 
potential and is shown on the Sky Sports channel.  This promotes a good 
image for Doncaster and the Lakeside.  DMBC received excellent praise from 
the promoters/sponsors of the event.  I would like to thank Brian Hill and 
Richard Young from Doncaster Council, for what turned out to be a great 
event.” 
 

26. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL 
PROCEDURE RULE 13 
 
No questions from the public had been received for this meeting. 
 

27. CORPORATE PLAN REFRESH (Minute No. 23 – 13th June, 2014) 
 

Further to the above Minute, the Council considered a report, presented by the 
Mayor of Doncaster, Ros Jones, which sought Members approval of the 
refreshed Corporate Plan. 
 
It was reported that Full Council had already approved a three year Corporate 
Plan at its meeting held in June last year.  As a number of its objectives had 
been successfully met, such as coming out of Government Intervention and 
establishing the Children’s Trust, it had been decided to undertake some small 
changes to reflect these successes and detail new challenges.  It was also an 
opportunity to introduce Outcomes Based Accountability as the method of 
managing progress against the Corporate Plan; the starting point of which was 
to reword the Corporate Plan outcomes as whole population outcomes. 
 
 
 
 



 

A. 4 
 

 
Members noted that detailed discussions had taken place with the Executive 
Board, Portfolio Holders and Directorate Management Teams.  The Corporate 
Plan outcomes and objectives had been considered and refined, with key 
measures identified.  A copy of the refreshed Corporate Plan with associated 
indicators and measures, was attached as an Appendix to the report. 
 
It was also reported that Heads of Service Plans were under development, 
alongside the PDR process, which would include the additional indicators or 
measures that did not appear in the Corporate Plan and would also capture 
Directorate objectives which could be escalated to a Corporate Plan level, if 
appropriate. 
 
In response to the written submission of a series of recommendations by the 
Chair of the Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee following the draft 
Corporate Plan being considered at an informal workshop meeting of the 
Overview & Scrutiny Management Committee on 1st July, the Mayor stated that 
she was grateful to the Committee for considering the plan and was pleased 
that Committee Members were supportive of what had been produced.  The 
Mayor noted that the comments made by Committee Members were very much 
in line with the Cabinet’s own views, for example the importance of improving 
Schools and education.  The Mayor also pointed out that she had written back 
to the Committee to provide reassurance that these important issues would be 
strongly managed as part of the plan and that progress would be regularly 
reported.  Other issues raised by the Committee as part of the process included 
comments on associated operational issues such as the Government’s closure 
of the Independent Living Fund, the location of air quality monitoring stations 
and bringing empty properties back into use. 
 
Following the presentation of the report, Members were afforded the 
opportunity to comment on the plan. 
 

RESOLVED that the refreshed Corporate Plan, be approved. 
 
28. COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY 2014/17 REFRESH AND OUTLINE OF 

SAFER STRONGER DONCASTER PARTNERSHIP PRIORITIES 2015-16 
 

The Council received a report, presented by Councillor Chris McGuinness, 
Cabinet Member for Communities and the Voluntary Sector, which provided an 
update on the 2015 refresh of the 2014/17 Community Safety Strategy.   
 
It was reported that the Strategy was a statutory plan which required 
endorsement by Council, but was produced and owned by the wider Safer 
Stronger Doncaster Partnership who had a legal duty to work together to 
reduce reoffending, deal with crime and disorder, anti-social behaviour, alcohol 
and substance misuse, and any other behaviour which had a negative effect on 
the local environment, and to produce a plan outlining how this would be 
achieved. 
 



 

A. 5 
 

 
 
Members noted that the refreshed Strategy provided an overview of the key 
achievements in the last twelve months and how the refreshed priorities sought 
to achieve better outcomes for the people of Doncaster.  Whilst the public 
consultation had provided reassurance that the current priorities were the 
priorities that the public wanted addressing, the challenges that remained were 
also acknowledged which included responding to new threats from the use of 
Novel Psychoactive Substances (legal highs) and working with the Authority’s 
partners to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour issues, using early 
intervention and prevention, as well as exploiting new legislation.  
 
It was also reported that protecting vulnerable people would also remain a key 
challenge and that support to the Safeguarding Adult and Children’s Board 
would be continued, including developing stronger links and working together to 
tackle areas such as Domestic Abuse, Child and Adult Sexual Exploitation and 
Sexual Abuse.  Through strong enforcement approach, supported by early 
intervention and prevention and responding effectively when needed, it was 
noted that the citizens of Doncaster would see improved outcomes in terms of 
feeling safer, being safer and getting the support they needed with access to 
improved services. 

 
Councillor Chris McGuinness was pleased to note that the consultation hadn’t 
solely relied on the Internet responses, as others had done so in the past. 
Councillor McGuinness also reported that a briefing for all Members would be 
held in due course on how the Council managed Anti-Social Behaviour. 

 
Following the presentation of the report, Members were afforded the 
opportunity to comment on the strategy. 

 
In response to concerns raised by Councillor Cynthia Ransome with regard to 
there being a slight reduction in Anti-Social behaviour by 4% in the last quarter, 
Councillor Chris McGuinness reported that due to changes in the law on Anti-
Social Behaviour legislation, there were now other means that the Council 
could use to address this issue.  He explained that the key issue for the Council 
was how the Council would enforce these powers.  Councillor McGuinness 
undertook to raise this issue with the relevant Officer.  
 
Councillor McGuinness encouraged all Members to attend the seminar, which 
he felt would be beneficial to Members.  He also reported that he was 
scheduled to meet with South Yorkshire Police on Monday afternoon and 
encouraged Members to contact him if they had any issues they would like him 
to bring to the attention of the Police. 
 
Councillor Jonathan Wood referred to the refreshed priorities of the Community 
Safety Strategy, as outlined in paragraph 5 of the report, which highlighted the 
reduction of Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour with a focus on restorative justice 
and visibility within communities, as well as the use of new tools and powers to 
address these issues.   
 



 

A. 6 
 

 
 
 
Councillor Wood stated that under the former administration, the Council had 
introduced a ‘Litter Bugs’ Restorative Justice Scheme, which gave children the 
option to tidy up the area where they lived instead of paying a fine.  He 
welcomed Restorative Justice and asked Councillor McGuinness to look at 
whether enhanced proposals could be introduced, particularly in relation to 
children and people disposing of litter improperly, in order for people to 
recognise the implications of what they had done and for them to respect their 
communities, and the consequences if they did not do so. 

 

In response, Councillor Chris McGuinness stated that under the Restorative 
Justice Plan, he was aware that there was a recruitment plan for volunteers.  
He gave an undertaking that Officers would provide Councillor Wood with a 
briefing note on the current position. 

 
RESOLVED that the refreshed content of the Community Safety Strategy 
2014/17, be approved. 
 

29. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15 
 

The Council considered the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report presented by 
Councillor Jane Nightingale, Vice-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee (OSMC), which highlighted the progress of Doncaster 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function during 2014/15.  The report also 
provided a short summary of some of the work carried out by OSMC and its 
four Standing Panels during 2014/15 and also highlighted some of the key 
achievements and the impacts that Overview and Scrutiny had made over the 
past year, and identified priorities for 2015/16. 
 
Councillor Nightingale initially placed on record her appreciation to Members, 
the Executive, Officers, Partners, Stakeholders and the public, who had 
attended meetings and contributed to the Overview and Scrutiny process.  She 
hoped that this report reflected the value that an effective Overview and 
Scrutiny function could bring to the organisation.  She also looked forward as to 
how Overview and Scrutiny could positively contribute to improving the delivery 
of services such as health and adult social care, environment, children’s issues, 
regeneration, housing and within communities, in delivering the Corporate Plan 
whilst the Council continued to effectively manage its finances. 
 
Councillor Nightingale drew Members attention to the key impacts and 
achievements which had arisen from the work of Overview and Scrutiny which 
included all aspects of the Overview and Scrutiny process, policy review and 
development, reviewing performance, the work of partners, and  
providing a critical friend role and appropriate challenge.  
 
 
 



 

A. 7 
 

 
Councillor Nightingale also highlighted that a new outcome focused structure 
had been introduced to Scrutiny in June 2014, with the OSMC undertaking a 
stronger management and co-ordination role.  It was intended to continue to 
maintain a greater focus on a smaller number of important issues that Overview 
and Scrutiny could review in detail.  The Panels focused on reviewing topics in-
depth to provide suggestions for improvement on such areas as educational 
attainment, the new waste collection contract, the delivery of additional 
housing, loneliness and social isolation. 
 
Members noted that a new Health and Adult Social Care Panel had been 
established which had developed stronger links with the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and other partners, to support improvements to the health of people in 
the Borough.  The Panel also carried out the Council’s formal Health Scrutiny 
responsibilities.  This change had provided flexibility for Overview and Scrutiny 
to respond to important issues of public concern that had arisen during the 
course of the year.  An example of which was the review undertaken of the 
Council and partnership arrangements to protect against Child Sexual 
Exploitation.  
 
It was also reported that Overview and Scrutiny continued to hold a number of 
training workshops including Chair’s Training, Scrutiny and Challenge and 
Questioning and Listening Skills.   
 
In conclusion, Councillor Nightingale once again thanked all Overview and 
Scrutiny Members, Partners, Stakeholders, Officers and members of the public, 
who had contributed to the Overview and Scrutiny process last year and she 
hoped that Overview and Scrutiny would continue to build on its successes.   
 
Following the presentation of the report, Members were afforded the 
opportunity to comment on the report. 
 
Councillor Jonathan Wood wished for it to be placed on record his 
disappointment at the content of the report, as he felt that it didn’t fully reflect 
the views of all Members sitting outside of the Executive.  He held the view that 
opposition Members were not fully engaged in the process, as they were not 
afforded the opportunity to Chair a Scrutiny Panel.  He was also of the opinion 
that whilst Scrutiny was able to ask questions of the Executive, they were 
unable to challenge the Executive. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor R. Allan Jones in relation to 3,500 
empty properties around the Borough that should be put into use and that 
Overview and Scrutiny should look at this issue, Councillor John McHale 
reported that the Regeneration and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
comprising Members from all Political Groups, had produced a very 
comprehensive suite of recommendations which had arisen from the Panel’s 
review of the Council’s Assets and Housing.  He gave an undertaking for 
Officers to provide Councillor Jones with the details. 
 
 



 

A. 8 
 

 
 

RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2014/15, be 
noted. 
 

30. APPOINTMENT OF CONSERVATIVE COUNCILLOR REPRESENTATIVE TO 
THE SHEFFIELD CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY’S AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

 
The Council considered a report, presented by Roger Harvey, the Assistant 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services, and Monitoring Officer, which 
sought the appointment of a Conservative Councillor as a representative of the 
Council, to serve on the Sheffield City Region Combined Authority’s (SCRCA)  
Audit Committee which was in accordance with the SCRCA’s political balance 
requirements.  This appointment would be in addition to the Council’s current 
representative. 
 
It was reported that at its meeting held on 7th March 2013, Council agreed that 
Doncaster Council would join the SCRCA, which became a legal entity on 1st 
April, 2014.  Since that time, the Council had also appointed Member 
representatives to the SCRCA’s Overview and Scrutiny, Transport and Audit 
Committees.  Having previously appointed the Council’s Chair of Audit 
Committee, Councillor Austen White (Labour) to serve on the SCRCA Audit 
Committee for the 2015/16 Municipal Year, the Council had been informed that 
Doncaster was also entitled to appoint 1 Conservative Councillor to sit on this 
body. 
 
Members noted that in terms of the selection of nominees, the SCRCA had 
indicated that its preferred arrangement was for the same Local Authority 
representatives to sit on both the SCRCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and the SCRCA Audit Committee, as meetings of both Committees had been 
aligned to meet on the same day, although member Authorities were free to 
nominate different representatives if they so wished. 
 
Subsequently, upon seeking a nominated representative from the Conservative 
Group, it was proposed that Councillor R. Allan Jones be appointed as the 
Conservative representative on the SCRCA Audit Committee. 
 

RESOLVED that Councillor R. Allan Jones, be appointed as the 
Conservative representative on the SCRCA Audit Committee. 
 

31. PROPOSED REVISION TO THE COMPOSITION OF THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE HEARINGS SUB-COMMITTEE (Minute No. 16 – 13th June, 
2014 and Audit Committee Minute No. 6(2) – 16th July, 2015) 

 
Further to the above Minutes, the Council considered a report presented by 
Roger Harvey, the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services, and 
Monitoring Officer, which sought approval to revise the composition of the Audit 
Committee’s Hearings Sub-Committee, by discontinuing Parish Council 
representation on the Audit Committee’s Hearings Sub-Committee. 



 

A. 9 
 

 
It was reported that as the Audit Committee had responsibility for corporate 
governance that incorporated ethical governance (the focus of the former 
Standards Committee) it was agreed by Council at its meeting on 13th June, 
2014, to disband the Standards Committee and transfer its functions to the 
Audit Committee.  To enable the Audit Committee to have a mechanism in 
place to deal with complaints against Councillors that could not be resolved 
informally, it was also agreed to establish a Hearings Sub-Committee of the 
Audit Committee.  This Sub-Committee currently comprised two co-opted 
Parish Council representatives and two co-opted Independent (non-Councillor) 
representatives.  As the terms of office of the Parish Council representatives on 
the Hearing Sub-Committee were due to expire on 20th July 2015, it was 
necessary to review the composition of the Sub-Committee.   
 
Members noted that the Localism Act 2011, introduced a new process with a 
much greater emphasis on resolving complaints on a more informal basis.  
Since its establishment in 2012, the Hearings Sub-Committee had never been 
convened.  Furthermore, the need for Parish Council representation in any 
hearings process was no longer a statutory requirement.  Accordingly, at its 
meeting held on 16th July 2015, the Audit Committee recommended to Full 
Council that the Parish Council representation on the Audit Committee’s 
Hearings Sub-Committee be discontinued on the understanding that this was 
no longer a statutory requirement and that the membership of the Hearings 
Sub-Committee, if it should ever meet, would still include an independent 
element by way of the existing Independent (non-councillor) Co-optees who 
served on that body. 
 
Following the presentation of the report, Members were afforded the 
opportunity to comment on the report. 
 

RESOLVED that Parish Council representation on the Audit 
Committee’s Hearings Sub-Committee should cease with immediate 
effect for the reasons outlined within paragraphs 6 and 7 of the report. 

 
32. CHANGES TO THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 
 

The Council considered a report presented by Roger Harvey, the Assistant 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services, and Monitoring Officer, which 
sought approval to revise the Council’s Constitution in response to an issue 
which had arisen since the Constitution was last reviewed in October 2012. 
 
It was reported that the Council’s Constitution set out how the Council 
operated, how decisions were made and the procedures which were followed to 
ensure that these were efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.  
Some of the processes were required by law, whilst others were chosen by the 
Council.  Paragraph 25.1 of Council Procedure Rules, required that Members 
must stand when addressing the Council Chamber; a requirement which dated 
back to the time when Full Council was based at the Mansion House.  Standing 
to speak was necessary in order to ensure that the speaker could be heard. 
 



 

A. 10 
 

 
Members noted that the installation of a modern audio system in a new 
purpose-built Council Chamber had made the need to stand for this reason 
unnecessary.  Standing to address the Chamber could also be seen as a mark 
of respect to the Chair.  Currently, if a Member had difficulties standing due to 
disability or ill health, they were required to seek a dispensation from the Chair 
to allow them to speak whilst remaining seated.  However, requiring Members 
who may be disabled, or otherwise have mobility issues, to have to apply for a 
dispensation in such circumstances, would be contrary to the principles of the 
Equality Act 2010. 
 
It was also noted that arrangements were in hand to expand the current 
facilities within the Council Chamber to allow for the audio and video recording 
of Council meetings, and potentially other meetings in the Chamber.  It was 
anticipated that a report on these arrangements, including the introduction of a 
protocol and any necessary further changes to the Constitution, would be 
considered at the next meeting of Council. 
 
Councillor James Hart, along with other Members of the Conservative Group 
voiced their dissent to removing the requirement for Members to stand whilst 
addressing the Chamber.  They held the view that the current arrangements 
allowed members of the public to see which Members were speaking and 
where they were seated.  The Conservative Group proposed that Members 
continue to remain standing whilst addressing the Chamber and that the 
specific dispensation remain for those Members who were unable to fulfil the 
requirement to stand, because of health reasons, disability or other personal 
reasons. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 21.4, a recorded vote was taken on 
the recommendations contained within the report, which was declared as 
follows:- 
 
For – 36 
 
Chair of Council, Councillor Paul Wray, Mayor of Doncaster, Ros Jones, 
Deputy Mayor Councillor Glyn Jones and Councillors Nigel Ball, Iris Beech, Joe 
Blackham, Rachael Blake, Elsie Butler, John Cooke, Tony Corden,  
Jessie Credland, Linda Curran, George Derx, Nuala Fennelly, Neil Gethin,  
Pat Haith, John Healy, Charlie Hogarth, Mark Houlbrook, Eva Hughes,  
Alan Jones, Majid Khan, Jane Kidd, Pat Knight, Sue Knowles,  
Chris McGuinness, Sue McGuinness, John McHale, Bill Mordue,  
Jane Nightingale, Tony Revill, Kevin Rodgers, Craig Sahman, Clive Stone, 
Austen White and Sue Wilkinson. 
 
Against – 12 
 
Vice-Chair, Councillor David Nevett and Councillors Nick Allen, Bev Chapman, 
Jane Cox, Steve Cox, Sean Gibbons, James Hart, R. Allan Jones,  
Andy Pickering, Cynthia Ransome, Alan Smith and Jonathan Wood. 
 



 

A. 11 
 

Abstain – 0 
 
On being put to the meeting, the Motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED that paragraph 25.1 of the Council Procedure Rules 
relating to the requirement for Members to stand whilst addressing the 
Council Chamber, be removed. 

 
33. TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING MOTION, WRITTEN NOTICE OF WHICH 

HAS BEEN GIVEN BY COUNCILLOR BILL MORDUE AND SECONDED BY 
COUNCILLOR JOE BLACKHAM, IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL 
PROCEDURE RULE 16.1 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 16.1, a Motion was submitted by 
Councillor Bill Mordue and Seconded by Councillor Joe Blackham:- 

 
“For too long a disproportionate amount of public money has been allocated to 
major infrastructure projects in London and the South East, hindering economic 
growth in Yorkshire and failing to address the north-south economic divide. 
 
Doncaster Council is deeply disappointed by the Government’s broken promise 
to deliver major transport infrastructure improvement works in the region.  This 
Council calls on the Government to reinstate its plans for electrification of the 
Trans Pennine and Midland Mainline routes, and proceed with the full East 
Coast Main Line crossing programme, by ensuring that funding is put in place 
to end the current ‘pause’, and confirming a new timetable for delivery of these 
important projects. 
 
Failure to do so will negatively impact passengers and businesses, and 
seriously brings into question this Government’s stated commitment to the 
Northern Powerhouse.” 
 
The Chair afforded all Members in the Chamber, the opportunity to speak on 
the Motion. 
 
A vote was taken on the Motion proposed by Councillor Bill Mordue, which was 
declared as follows:- 
 
For – 47 
 
Against – 0 
 
Abstentions – 0 
 
On being put to the meeting, the Motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED that for too long a disproportionate amount of public 
money has been allocated to major infrastructure projects in London 
and the South East, hindering economic growth in Yorkshire and failing 
to address the north-south economic divide. 



 

A. 12 
 

 
Doncaster Council is deeply disappointed by the Government’s broken 
promise to deliver major transport infrastructure improvement works in 
the region.  This Council calls on the Government to reinstate its plans 
for electrification of the Trans Pennine and Midland Mainline routes, 
and proceed with the full East Coast Main Line crossing programme, by 
ensuring that funding is put in place to end the current ‘pause’, and 
confirming a new timetable for delivery of these important projects. 
 
Failure to do so will negatively impact passengers and businesses, and 
seriously brings into question this Government’s stated commitment to 
the Northern Powerhouse. 

 
34. TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING MOTION, WRITTEN NOTICE OF WHICH 

HAS BEEN GIVEN BY COUNCILLOR PAT KNIGHT AND SECONDED BY 
COUNCILLOR GEORGE DERX, IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL 
PROCEDURE RULE 16.1 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 16.1, a Motion was submitted by 
Councillor Pat Knight and Seconded by Councillor George Derx:- 
 
“Hatfield Colliery is the last operational mine in South Yorkshire, one of just 
three in the whole country, and a significant employer in the area with over 400 
members of staff.  Production has now ceased, probably for the final time. 
 
The early closure of the pit will end up costing the UK more money, not less.  
Calculations made by the company suggest that the extra investment required 
to keep the mine open as planned until summer 2016 would have been more 
than offset by tax and VAT revenues coming back to Government. 
 
This calculation does not take account of the money Government will now pay 
out in benefits to miners who are not able to find alternative work.  Nor does it 
factor in the impact of early closure on the 100 companies in the supply chain, 
the local economy, or the social effects on the local community. 
 
The miners at Hatfield were led to believe that they would have another 12 
months of work and could plan their futures.  However, the Government refused 
to extend an existing loan arrangement despite the company arranging 
contracts to sell more than half their coal. 
 
This Council calls on Government to think again, and do all that it can to 
support the miners of Hatfield Colliery, their families and the communities that it 
supports.” 
 
The Chair afforded all Members in the Chamber, the opportunity to speak on 
the Motion. 
 
A vote was taken on the Motion proposed by Councillor Pat Knight, which was 
declared as follows:- 
 



 

A. 13 
 

For – 40 
 
Against – 0 
 
Abstentions – 6 
 
On being put to the meeting, the Motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED that Hatfield Colliery is the last operational mine in South 
Yorkshire, one of just three in the whole country, and a significant 
employer in the area with over 400 members of staff.  Production has 
now ceased, probably for the final time. 
 
The early closure of the pit will end up costing the UK more money, not 
less.  Calculations made by the company suggest that the extra 
investment required to keep the mine open as planned until summer 
2016 would have been more than offset by tax and VAT revenues 
coming back to Government. 
 
This calculation does not take account of the money Government will 
now pay out in benefits to miners who are not able to find alternative 
work.  Nor does it factor in the impact of early closure on the 100 
companies in the supply chain, the local economy, or the social effects 
on the local community. 
 
The miners at Hatfield were led to believe that they would have another 
12 months of work and could plan their futures.  However, the 
Government refused to extend an existing loan arrangement despite 
the company arranging contracts to sell more than half their coal. 
 
This Council calls on Government to think again, and do all that it can 
to support the miners of Hatfield Colliery, their families and the 
communities that it supports. 
 

35. QUESTIONS BY ELECTED MEMBERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL 
PROCEDURE RULES 15.2 AND 15.3 

 
A. Questions on Notice 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15.2, the Chair accepted the 
following question from an Elected Member during “Question Time”:- 
 
(a)   From Councillor Andy Pickering to the Mayor of Doncaster, Ros 

Jones:- 
 

Q. “We have concerns regarding the policy of charging in 
Mexborough's multi-storey car park.  Since the charge was 
passed in to the 2013/14 budget, circumstances have changed; 
Mexborough no longer has a Town Centre supermarket.   

 



 

A. 14 
 

 
Mexborough has five car parks, three chargeable operated by 
private companies; the current policy leaves Mexborough with 
only one free car park at a time when neighbouring Towns have 
no charging and are having new supermarkets constructed.  
Mexborough has benefited from a 500k investment to assist 
regeneration.  Would Mayor Jones be prepared to re-examine the 
issue of charging in order to give that investment the best chance 
of success?” 
 

A. The Mayor gave the following response:- 
 
“I’d like to thank Councillor Pickering for his question. 
 
My Cabinet and I are absolutely committed to the regeneration 
and economic success of Mexborough. Ensuring that 
Mexborough is able to thrive is vital to both local residents and the 
economy of our Borough as a whole.  That is why we have taken 
action to make improvements in the Town, with over half a million 
pounds invested in the regeneration of Mexborough Market and 
upgrades to the High Street. 
 
However, I certainly recognise your concerns. We are in difficult 
economic and financial circumstances, something that has been 
seen on Mexborough High Street with the closure of shops such 
as Tesco.  That is why I put a hold on the introduction of the 
parking charges that were agreed by Council in the budget. I am 
determined not to undermine the work we are doing to boost the 
Town. 
 
I am confident that our regeneration project will bear fruit. It is 
already giving a new lease of life to the Market and I am hopeful it 
will also help to generate new interest in empty shop units, both in 
the Market Square and on the High Street. 
 
We have already made some improvements to the multi-storey 
car park and we will be completing those works later this year, 
when the lift is brought back into use. 
 
All Councillors in this Chamber will be aware that between 2010 
and 2015, the Government grant to Doncaster Council was cut 
from £270m per year to £148m per year.  The Conservative 
Government has made clear it intends to continue with these 
draconian cuts and this will hit services in Doncaster.  For this 
reason, I cannot make an indefinite commitment not to introduce 
parking charges in Mexborough.  To do so would mean making 
further cuts to other Council budgets which are also under 
massive pressure and impacting other communities in the 
Borough. 
 



 

A. 15 
 

However, the car park will remain free whilst work is being 
undertaken and we allow the High Street to benefit from the 
Market regeneration project. We will keep the situation under 
close review and I will not undermine the opportunities that are 
being created through our recent investment in the Town.” 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15.7, Councillor Andy 
Pickering asked the Mayor the following supplementary question:- 

 
Q. “I would like to thank the Mayor for her response to my question, 

and will say we understand the Council's position in these 
challenging times. 

 
However, your reply states ‘you are determined not to undermine 
the work we are doing to boost the Town’.  We share this 
determination and are equally committed to the regeneration of 
our Town, but we remain convinced that car parking charges will 
adversely affect our shared vision of the regeneration project 
bearing fruit.  

 
As to the budgeting implications suggested, we remain 
unconvinced that this change will achieve the anticipated 
contribution, particularly in view of the loss of Tesco, our only 
Town Centre supermarket. Can the Mayor confirm that a revised 
income forecast from this charge has been completed following 
the departure of our last Town Centre supermarket, and can she 
confirm that the forecast has been completed and if so, is she 
confident that the revised forecast will achieve the required 
budgetary commitment?” 

 
A. The Mayor gave the following response:- 
 

“We can’t do anything until a forecast has been undertaken, but 
this cannot be carried out until we can ascertain whether we can 
introduce a parking charge.  This must be dependent upon what 
retail stores come forward and then we will have to look again if 
we need to revise the estimate.  We will continue to maintain and 
review the situation to obtain the best option and to regenerate 
Mexborough.  This has been instigated by the Labour Group and 
by myself as Mayor.” 

 
B. Questions Without Notice 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15.2, the Chair accepted the 
following questions from Elected Members during ‘Question Time’:- 

 
A. Questions to Ros Jones, Mayor of Doncaster  

 
Q. Councillor R. Allan Jones asked the Mayor of Doncaster, Ros 

Jones:- 



 

A. 16 
 

 
“I want to raise two points.  In relation to my first point, throughout 
the papers here before Members today, we do not see any 
reference to the actual dates of when the reports were composed 
or revised as part of the process.  I would like the Executive to 
look at this so that in future when I pick up a report, I will have 
reference to when the report was actually written, in order that I 
can see what changes have been made.  An example of this was 
at an Overview and Scrutiny meeting.  I received a report and I 
had to inform the Chair that the report had already been 
considered by Cabinet.  However, there was no reference of this 
in the report.  I have brought these issues to the attention of the 
Audit Committee at the last meeting. 
 
In relation to my second point, as being a volunteer in my Library 
and also as a Library user, I understand that the Council has a 
policy in place where the screens switch off after 2 minutes use, 
which is causing a lot of concern in my Library and in the Ward 
that I serve.  I am asking if this can be changed.  Can you look 
into this please?” 
 

A. The Mayor gave the following response:- 
 

“All reports coming to Council and considered at this meeting this 
evening have been put on the Forward Plan, including any items 
that are to be considered by Cabinet.  All reports that are to be 
considered by Full Council have a date on them.  I ask that if you 
can put the issues you wish to raise in writing, I’m sure Officers 
will look at them. 
 
In relation to your second question regarding screens in Libraries, 
I am assuming that you are talking about ‘computer’ screens.  I 
think you should have directed your question through to ICT.  But, 
if you feel that the policy needs amending, I have no problem with 
this.  You will need to speak to ICT.  I am not sure if this practice 
is common across the Borough.” 

 
Q. Councillor James Hart asked the Mayor of Doncaster, Ros 

Jones:- 
 

“This morning, I was notified of a tender on the Council’s website 
in respect of a tender for a consultant to carry out a review of 
areas of Green Belt in the Borough.  The LDF Core Strategy was 
identified as no significant changes to Green Belt to meet growth 
targets. 
 
Whilst looking at the desk top based tender documents this 
morning, the review was not just looking at Doncaster, but also 
Bawtry, Tickhill, Edlington, Toll Bar and other areas. 
 



 

A. 17 
 

 
What is the Mayor doing to protect Green Belt in the Borough and 
in particular, the East of Doncaster, which has been unprotected 
over recent years?” 
 

A. “You need to have a look at the Council’s Local Plan and input 
into that.  We need to have a Local Plan to see what the whole 
Borough wants.  Green Belt is what it is.  I don’t look at every 
tender.  I suggest that if there is anything specific that you have 
any issues with, please write to me and I will get someone to 
respond to you in writing.” 

 
Q. Councillor John Cooke asked the Mayor of Doncaster, Ros 

Jones:- 
 

“In relation to the St. Leger Homes improvement programme, can 
you clarify whether the Government has withdrawn funding.  If this 
is the case, who bears the responsibility if the improvements are 
not completed?” 
 

A. The Mayor gave the following response:- 
 

“The Government has just announced that housing is going to 
receive 1% less funding per year.  St. Leger homes will be 
working through their business plan.  We will receive £16.7m less 
in income and therefore, the Capital Programme will slip.  
Decency Works will be completed this year.  Slippage with the 
Capital Programme will happen every year, but we will continue to 
review the situation.” 

 
Q. Councillor Jonathan Wood asked the Mayor of Doncaster, Ros 

Jones:- 
 

“Regarding the Green Belt, you heard a statement from Councillor 
Hart regarding the Green Belt.  I support the Greenbelt in its 
current form.  Do you Mayor support the Green Belt in its current 
form?” 

 
A. The Mayor gave the following response:- 

 
“We need to see what the Local Plan produces for this Borough 
before any decisions are made.  The actual amount of Green Belt 
needs to be determined.  I have always been a supporter of 
Green Belt, but we need a longer term view.” 

 
Q. Councillor Chris McGuinness asked the Mayor of Doncaster, Ros 

Jones:- 
 
 
 



 

A. 18 
 

“Changes to the Green Belt have been brought about by Central 
Government.  The legislation and the guidance from the 
Government changes month by month.  Can I ask the Mayor if 
she thinks that the Government is in favour of the Green Belt?” 
 

A. The Mayor gave the following response:- 
 

“You can see what’s in the Government’s mind.  We have seen 
that the Government has used Green Belt land for building on.  
We need to preserve as much Green Belt in the Borough as we 
can.  As far as Planning is concerned, I can’t get involved with 
individual aspects however, I can get involved in Planning Policy.” 

 
B. Questions to the Deputy Mayor, Councillor Glyn Jones, Cabinet 

Member for Adult Social Care and Equalities 
 

Q. Councillor Cynthia Ransome asked the Deputy Mayor, Councillor 
Glyn Jones:- 

 
“Seven Residential Homes were destined to close in November, 
2013.  The reason given for this was that they are too expensive 
to run.  Through ‘bed blocking’ there is a loss in Council revenue.  
Cabinet decided to close the Homes in June 2014.  When is 
privatisation going to happen and to what cost to Doncaster?” 
 

A. The Deputy Mayor gave the following response:- 
 

“We are currently working towards this.  We never said that 
Residential Homes would close.  The Council will be signing over 
the Homes to Runwood on 1st September.  There will be no extra 
costs associated with the running of the Homes.  Runwood would 
run with the Council’s existing client base.” 

 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 15.7, Cynthia Ransome asked 
the Deputy Mayor the following supplementary question:- 

 
Q. “How can there be no cost to the Council when they have got 

seven businesses.  Are we paying them a fund for the work that 
should have been done?” 

 
A. The Deputy Mayor gave the following response:- 
 

“A review will be undertaken in relation to the people transferring 
to those Homes.  If an individual is receiving Residential Care and 
is sponsored by the Authority, the funding will come from the 
Council’s budget.” 
 

C. Questions to Councillor Joe Blackham, Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration and Transportation 

 



 

A. 19 
 

Q. Councillor Jonathan Wood asked Councillor Blackham:- 
 
 “My question relates to the disruption on the North Bridge.  As you 

come over the bridge coming into the Town Centre, northbound 
on to St. Marys Bridge, whilst the traffic on the chicane is flowing, 
the left hand lane is always backed up with traffic all the way up to 
York Road, which is because the traffic light is still set up as a 
regular light.  Drivers are being forced to take the left hand lane 
preventing them from filtering into the right hand lane and 
therefore, no traffic is going under the underpass.  Can it be 
suspended or be pedestrian friendly.  To have a filter lane in place 
all the time might alleviate the problem?” 

 
A. Councillor Blackham gave the following response:- 

 
“I will ask the Council’s Highways Officers to look into the issue 
you have raised.” 

 
D. Questions to Councillor Tony Corden, Cabinet Member for Customer, 

Corporate and Trading Services 
 

No questions were put to Councillor Tony Corden, Cabinet Member for 
Customer, Corporate and Trading Services. 

 
E. Questions to Councillor Nuala Fennelly, Cabinet Member for Children, 

Young People and Schools  
 

Q. Councillor James Hart asked Councillor Nuala Fennelly:- 
 

“The NEET (Not in Education, Employment or Training) scorecard 
published this week shows some good progress made across the 
Local Authority, in particular our growing knowledge of what 16 to 
18 year olds are doing; up 7.1%.  But, it also highlights areas in 
which Doncaster is still weak, such as our higher than average 18 
year old NEETs; now at 8.7%, and the percentage of 19 year olds 
achieving a level 3 qualification which is nearly 10% under the 
average for England.  What forward plans do we have in place to 
address these two failing areas?” 
 

A. Councillor Nuala Fennelly gave the following response:- 
 

“The reason we struggle with 18 year old NEETs is because when 
they leave school and go to college, there is a delay in receiving 
the information.  There will be a plan regarding how all NEETs 
come together now that the Team have moved out of Education 
into the Regeneration Directorate.  Regeneration will be putting 
together a plan to deal with this issue.  I will ask an Officer to put a 
statement together, in terms of where we are with the Plan.” 

 



 

A. 20 
 

F. Questions to Councillor Sandra Holland, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and the Environment 
 
In the absence of Councillor Sandra Holland, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and the Environment, the Chair of Council informed Members 
that any questions for Councillor Holland should be submitted in writing 
to the Executive Office after this meeting and that the Cabinet Member 
would respond accordingly. 
 

G. Questions to Councillor Pat Knight, Cabinet Member for Public Health 
and Wellbeing 

 
No questions were put to Councillor Pat Knight, Cabinet Member for 
Public Health and Wellbeing. 
 

H. Questions to Councillor Chris McGuinness, Cabinet Member for 
Communities and the Voluntary Sector 
 
Q. Councillor Cynthia Ransome asked Councillor Chris 

McGuinness:- 
 

“In the 2014/15 Municipal Year, there were over 1,100 Fixed 
Penalty Notices issued for littering which resulted in an income of 
£55,000 in fines, but in 2010/11, there were 3,400 Fixed Penalty 
Notices; one case alone resulted in a fine of £250,000.  Do you 
visualise any improvements in the service on continuing to deliver 
at this rate?” 

 
A. Councillor Chris McGuinness gave the following response:- 
 

“In the past, Fixed Penalty Notices were picked up quickly by the 
Neighbourhood Teams.  Now the Neighbourhood Teams have 
fewer staff.  The item we are about to look at by the Super 
Enforcement Structure, is to bring in an outside company to 
enhance the process.  It’s a question of resources.” 

 
I. Questions to Councillor Bill Mordue, Cabinet Member for Business, 

Skills, Tourism and Culture 
 

No questions were put to Councillor Bill Mordue, Cabinet Member for 
Business, Skills, Tourism and Culture. 
 

J. Questions to Councillor John Mounsey, Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee  

 
In the absence of Councillor John Mounsey, Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee, no questions were put to the Vice-
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee, Councillor 
Jane Nightingale. 

 



 

A. 21 
 

36. MINUTES OF THE JOINT AUTHORITIES 
 

RESOLVED that the Minutes and Briefing Notes of the following Joint 
Authorities, be noted:- 
 
A. South Yorkshire Police and Crime Panel held on 19th March and 

29th June, 2015. 
 

B. Sheffield City Region Combined Authority held on 16th February, 
30th March and 15th May, 2015. 

 
C. South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority held on 16th February, 

29th June (Annual) and 29th June (Ordinary) 2015, and Section 
41 Briefing Notes for March, April, June and July 2015. 

 
D. South Yorkshire Pensions Authority held on 19th March, 11th 

June (Annual) and 11th June (Ordinary) 2015. 
 





S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i7 Council 240915 Youth Justice Plan.doc 

 
                    
 

 
Corporate Report Format 
 
 
To the Chair and Members of Full Council 
 
Statutory Youth Justice Plan 2015-16 
 

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 

Wards Affected Key Decision 

Nuala Fennelly/ Chris 
McGuinness 

All (P350) 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1. The purpose of this report is to present a new statutory, strategic Youth 
Offending Service Plan (YOSP) for 2015-2016 for the Youth Offending Service 
(YOS) in Doncaster where responsibility for the discharge of the plan lies. The 
YOSP is due for review and submission to the Board annually. 

The Plan sets out the resourcing and value for money, challenges to future 
provision, structure and governance, partnership arrangements and risks to 
future delivery for the service. In relation to these, actions and timescales are 
set to develop the service and ensure the best service for the children and 
young people of Doncaster. 

 
EXEMPT REPORT 
 
2. This report is not an exempt report 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3. That the Youth Justice Plan is approved. 

 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
4. The citizens of Doncaster will be protected from offending, re-offending and the 

fear of crime. The successful implementation of the Youth Justice Plan will 
contribute to an overall reduction in offending and will, through the delivery of a 
revised prevention offer, reduce the number of first time entrants into the youth 
justice system.  
 
This has significant and far reaching positive consequences in terms of raising 
aspirations with young people and their families, making communities safer 
and more inclusive. Crucially the targeted work around child sexual exploitation 
and young people missing from home will improve the outcomes and safety of 
young people throughout the borough. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item No: 7 
24th September, 2015                             



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i7 Council 240915 Youth Justice Plan.doc 

BACKGROUND 
 
5. This strategic plan impacts upon the delivery of youth justice in all wards of 

Doncaster. It involves expenditure of £2,123,555 in 2015-16 of which £814,025 
comes from Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council as part of its contractual 
arrangements with Doncaster Children’s Services Trust (DCST). 
 
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 set the statutory functions for Youth 
Offending Teams.  The relevant provisions dealing with the youth justice 
system are set out in Part III of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (“the 1998 
Act”). Section 37(1) of the 1998 Act provides that it shall be the principal aim of 
the youth justice system to prevent offending by children and young persons. 
 
Section 38 places a duty on local authorities, acting in co-operation with the 
agencies listed below to secure that, to such extent as is appropriate for their 
area, all “youth justice services” are available there. Those agencies are: 

 Chief Officer of police or police authority any part of whose police area lies 
within the local authority’s area.  

 The Secretary of State in relation to his functions under sections 2 and 3 of the 
Offender Management Act 2007.  

 Every provider of probation services that is required by arrangements under 
section 3(2) of the Offender Management Act 2007 to carry out the duty under 
this subsection in relation to the local authority. 

 Every local probation board, Strategic Health Authority, Local Health Board or 
Primary Care Trust any part of whose area lies within that area. 

Section 40 of the 1998 Act sets out the duty of each local authority to formulate 
and implement an annual youth justice plan setting out how youth justice 
services in their area are to be provided and funded and their functions and 
composition. Youth offending teams must co-ordinate the provision of youth 
justice services for all those in the authority’s area that need them and carry 
out the functions of the youth offending service plan. 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
6.    N/A 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
7.    N/A 
 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY PRIORITIES  
 
8. 
 

 Priority  Implications  

 All people in Doncaster benefit 
from a thriving and resilient 
economy. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing 

Reducing first time entrants into the 
youth justice system, significantly 
reduces the financial burden on 
other statutory services, and 
therefore protects against services 
being overwhelmed and placed 

 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i7 Council 240915 Youth Justice Plan.doc 

 Mayoral Priority: Be a strong 
voice for our veterans 

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services 

 

under budgetary pressure, when 
earlier intervention could have been 
undertaken successfully. 
Creating an aspirational culture 
amongst young people involved in 
anti-social behaviour and offending 
will lead to greater engagement 
with education, training and 
employment opportunities. 

 People live safe, healthy, active 
and independent lives. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities   

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living 
 

Doncaster YOS is committed to 
ensuring that all young people 
receive a full health assessment 
from the YOS nurse and any 
attendant issues addressed. 
In addition as part of a re-framed 
prevention offer Doncaster YOS will 
engage young people on the cusp 
of offending and Anti-Social 
Behaviour in a range of 
diversionary activities which will 
include positive physical activities. 
 

 People in Doncaster benefit from 
a high quality built and natural 
environment. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing 

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities  

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living 

A successful implementation of the 
youth justice plan will divert young 
people on the cusp of offending, 
but crucially will also prevent re-
offending in those who do offend. A 
reduction in offending will lead to 
safer communities, in which its 
young citizens are more invested 
and consequently are actively 
engaged in the development of 
those communities. 
 

 All families thrive. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services 

 

The youth justice plan will support 
families who have presenting 
issues, through the YOS 
commitment and ongoing 
contribution to the Stronger 
Families initiative. The outcome of 
which will be more families turned 
around in phase two of the 
programme and a culture which 
enables families to reach their full 
potential. 

 Council services are modern and 
value for money. 
 

Doncaster YOS, has always strived 
to deliver value for money, by 
tracking best national practice and 
amending service provision to meet 
these needs. 
 
All posts are reviewed when they 
become vacant to assess the need 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i7 Council 240915 Youth Justice Plan.doc 

for this post or provision in the 
future. 

 Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance. 
 

Doncaster YOS is monitored and 
challenged by the Management 
Board, which is comprised of 
representatives from all partnership 
agencies. 
In addition Doncaster YOS is 
subject to monitoring from the 
Youth Justice Board in terms of 
quarterly data monitoring on key 
performance indicators. 

 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 

9. The risk factors are outlined in the YOS service plan itself. The most 
pertinent risks are in relation to policy change, partnerships and financial 
contributions to YOS for 2015/16.  The plan itself has been written to 
minimize risk to delivery and links to other strategic plans for Doncaster help 
to achieve this. 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

10. Section 40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the Council, after   
consultation with relevant persons and bodies, to formulate and implement 
each year a Youth Offending Service Plan setting out how youth justice 
services in their area are to be provided and funded.  

The youth rehabilitation order was created by the criminal justice and 
immigration act 2008 and came into effect by virtue of regulation on 30 
November 2009. As indicated in the body of the report new national 
standards are emerging from this statutory framework. These set out the 
minimum standards requirements for relevant organisations providing youth 
justice services. The standards focus upon youth justice in the community, 
effective governance and planning and performance management. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
11. There are no direct financial implications for DMBC. Doncaster YOS is a 

multi- agency organisation funded by a range of partners including DMBC 
(Details contained in the Youth Justice Plan). However, the funds are 
allocated as part of the contract between DCS Trust and DMBC. No 
additional funds are requested. 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS  

 
12. None 

 
 
 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i7 Council 240915 Youth Justice Plan.doc 

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS  
 

13. None 
 

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

14. Decision makers must consider the Council’s duties under the Public Sector 
Equality Duty at s149 of the Equality Act 2010. The duty requires the 
Council, when exercising its functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited under the act, and to advance equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations between those who share a ‘protected characteristic’ and 
those who do not share that protected characteristic.  
 
Doncaster Youth Offending Service is a statutory service, which administers 
the delivery of Court Orders to all young people throughout the borough. 
Doncaster Youth Offending Service is governed by the National Standards 
for Youth Justice Practice which guarantees the consistency of the service 
offered to both those who share a “protected characteristic” and those who 
do not share a “protected characteristic” Consequently, there are no specific 
equality implications arising from this report.  
 
Any activities arising from the management of strategic risks will need to be 
the subject of separate ‘Due regard’ assessments. 
 
Copy of the YOS Due Regard Statement is available upon request. 

 
CONSULTATION 

 
15. This report has significant implications in terms of the following: 

 

Procurement  Crime & Disorder X 

Human Resources  Human Rights & Equalities  

Buildings, Land and Occupiers  Environment & Sustainability  

ICT  Capital Programme  

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
16. None. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 

 
Graham Hobson, Head of Service 
Tel: 01302 736162  
Email: graham.hobson@dcstrust.co.uk 

 
 

Paul Moffat, Chief Executive, DCS Trust 
 





Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 1 of 38 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Doncaster 
 Youth Offending Service 
SERVICE PLAN 2015/16 

 
Service plan owner: Graham Hobson 

Service plan sponsor: Mark Douglas 
Last updated: Sept 2015 

 

 
    

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Q1 Review: [17th July 2015] 
Q2 Review: [16th October 2015] 

Q3 Review: [7rd January 2016] 
Q4 Review: [1st April 2016]  



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 2 of 38 

1. Service overview 

 
Doncaster Youth Offending Service (YOS) works with children, young 

people and their families to prevent and to challenge offending, 
encourage responsibility, develop victim empathy and reduce fear of 

crime in communities 
 

 
Youth Offending Teams were formed in England and Wales in April 2000 under 
the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, providing a multi-agency approach to 

preventing offending by children and young people.  Doncaster Youth Offending 
Service consists of around 60 professionals including health, probation, youth 

justice, social work, education, housing, Information, Advice and Guidance 
workers, substance misuse and police.  The Service is divided into three areas of 

responsibility, Interventions Team, Case Management Team and a small Court 
Team. 
 

Doncaster YOS has four strategic aims, set by the Youth Justice Board (YJB) 
 Preventing offending 

o This function remains a responsibility for the Youth Offending 
Service however delivery has been incorporated within the new 

Integrated Family Support Team.  Doncaster YOS provides 
continuous support to this by working with young people who 

receive youth cautions and youth conditional cautions to reduce any 
further criminal activity. DCS Trust is currently in the process of a 
restructure; one of the proposed changes will involve a Prevention 

Team being added to the existing YOS service delivery. In the 
event of this, the prevention arrangements will alter giving an 

increased presence within those areas of the Borough with the 
highest incidences of young people who are involved in ASB or at 
risk of entering the criminal justice system. 

 Reducing re-offending 
o The Youth Offending Service concentrates all its resources to 

reduce re-offending to the lowest possible level.  Recent results 
show that of the 162 young offenders in the 2013 Doncaster cohort 

only 64 re-offended. This resulted in only 151 new offences 
throughout the year.  Many of these are high risk offenders with 

complex behaviour issues. The YOS will work hard to ensure these 
figures continue to reduce in 2015/16 by a range of measures 
including the recruitment of a trainee forensic psychologist to 

review the existing offending behaviour interventions on offer and 
creating new programmes for the enhanced and intensive cohorts.  

 Ensuring the safe and effective use of custody 
o Doncaster YOS works very closely with the Magistrates and Crown 

Court services to ensure that custody is used in all appropriate 
cases and also that the most intensive community supervision is 

recommended for other young offenders who commit serious 
offences but do not receive custodial sentences.  The Youth Justice 
Board and Doncaster YOS recognise the need to reduce the use of 

custody whilst balancing the need for a strong approach to 
offending.  The YOS will implement a process to monitor all cases 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 3 of 38 

receiving either a Remand into Youth Detention (pre-sentence) or a 

custodial disposal and ensure that use is commensurate to risks 
posed. Where it is felt that there is an inappropriate use of custody, 
this will be raised with the Chief Clerk to the Justices. 

 Increasing victim and public confidence 
o Doncaster YOS has an excellent history of working very closely with 

Police and the Third sector and this will be built upon in 2015/2016.  
This work will continue through our partnerships with REMEDI and 

SOVA. 
 

 
 
 At the present time Pre-crime prevention work is delivered through the 
Integrated Family Support Service. To ensure close working relationships with 

YOS and IFST the Head of Service now manages both teams.  This will help to 
work more effectively with young people and their families to prevent their entry 
into the Criminal Justice system. This work largely takes place through 

programmes delivered by our partners, where the emphasis is strongly on 
working with the families and parents of young people at risk of offending as 

well as the young people themselves.  The aim is that problems or behaviours 
which may result in criminal or anti-social behaviour are tackled constructively 
at a very early stage.  

 
DCS Trust is currently undergoing restructure and one of the proposed changes 

currently under consultation is a dedicated prevention team. The team will 
target families with young people on the cusp of offending in the most deprived 
areas of Doncaster and will aim to deliver targeted interventions to reduce these 

risks and divert young people away to more pro-social associations and activities 
 

Our work to help young people to avoid or stop offending takes place on a 
statutory basis, commencing with police cautions or conditional cautions through 
to sentencing following a court conviction. The YOS makes assessments across a 

number of important areas of young people’s lives and refers on to the 
appropriate community resources as required. The YOS uses the “Light Touch” 

methodology to ensure that risk of reoffending is not increased by doing too 
much too soon. Additionally, the YOS wants to ensure that Young People are 

centred within their own communities and that we are not creating a culture of 
dependency upon a short time-limited agency involvement. In cases where the 
aggregate score is 12 or the individual section score is 4, referrals are made to 

the Interventions Team within the YOS.  
 
Continuing this high quality service to people of Doncaster affected by the 
crimes of young people in a climate of increasing budgetary pressure will once 
again be our biggest challenge in the year ahead.  All key partners are under 

budgetary pressure and this will impact upon the amount of funding available for 
2015/16.   Reduced contributions will result in pressure on available funds. 

 
We will support the Doncaster Stronger Families initiatives to work closely with 

all our partners to impact on the lives of the most difficult to reach families in 
the most positive way possible.  This will include provision of YOS staff and time 
to work directly with identified families. We continue to work alongside 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 4 of 38 

neighbourhoods and communities teams within the Council.  We will share 

information appropriately to support Neighbourhood groups and initiatives, 
including Neighbourhood Action Groups and Joint Action Groups.  We will attend 
relevant meetings and panels within neighbourhoods.   

 
 

Following consultation with Police and our partners in Feb 2014, the YOS agreed, 
initially on a trial for three months, to dedicate one of its seconded Police 
Officers to work with our in-house young people’s residential units, to reduce the 

number of Looked After children who go missing from home.  This initiative 
builds upon a scheme in Nottingham which has been used as the foundation for 

this scheme.  This project has worked so well that the YOS has embedded and 
expanded it to provide similar support to the organisations who are  
commissioned to provide accommodation for our young people, through our 18+ 

services and work to support the efforts to eradicate Child Sexual Exploitation in 
Doncaster.  This is being achieved without disruption to core service delivery.  
 
Doncaster YOS continues to involve Doncaster residents by recruiting and 
training Volunteers and Community Panel members.  We will work hard to 

ensure that we maximise the work of these opportunities and provide the right 
training.  All volunteers will be trained in all available roles, mentoring, panel 

members or supporting young people with reparation work.  This helps to 
increase public confidence in the work and ability of the YOS to manage young 
offenders in the community. 
 
We will continue to work closely with courts to get the most appropriate 

sentences for young offenders and we will continue to offer the most appropriate 
range of requirements within the Youth Rehabilitation Order for those young 

offenders convicted of serious offending, to ensure that both their risk and needs 
are met but also that the Public are protected.    The YOS understands the need 
for a strong approach to managing serious offending behaviour.  To enable this 

to happen partner agencies (Police, Probation and Health) second staff to the 
YOS with the skills to ensure that young offenders are diverted from re-

offending, and those that are high risk offenders are effectively managed. 
Doncaster is also part of an innovative project with other South and West 
Yorkshire services and the secure establish working to keep young people from 

returning to custody.  The project is a pilot programme overseen by the Youth 
Justice Board and is expected to last for at least three years.  
 
 

 

2. Corporate context 

 
The Head of the Youth Offending Service is one of a number of  Heads of Service 

reporting to the Chief Operating Officer of Doncaster’s Children’s Trust.  At a 
local level, the YOS works closely with Doncaster Community Safety Partnership, 

particularly the Anti-Social Behaviour Unit and the Safer Stronger Doncaster 
Partnership.   
 
Doncaster YOS contributes to the outcomes in Doncaster’s major plans: 

 Children and Young People’s Service Improvement Plan 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 5 of 38 

2. Corporate context 

 DCST Business Plan 
 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 Safeguarding Action Plan 

 
More broadly, the Youth Justice Board monitors the performance of youth justice 
teams across the country through the Youth Justice Planning Framework, 

supported by the collection of performance and other data.  The three Youth 
Justice National Indicators which inform local government assessment are: 

 Numbers of first time entrants into the Youth Justice System (Prevention) 
 Numbers of children or young people sentenced to custody 
 Proven re-offending rates for children and young people in terms of the 

binary and frequency rate 
 
Doncaster YOS Management Board meets 4 times a year. In line with best 
practice guidelines from the YJB the Doncaster Management Board includes 
representation from Doncaster Children’s Services Trust, South Yorkshire 

Magistrates Courts, Public Health, Housing, as well as the four statutory partners 
Local Authority, Probation, Health and South Yorkshire Police.  This Board has 

recently been incorporated into the Safer Stronger Doncaster Partnership 
meetings to ensure that attendance is maintained at the right level. 

 
The Board is directly responsible for: 
 

 delivering the principal aim of reducing offending and re-offending 

 strategic performance oversight 

 ensuring the effective delivery of justice services for children and young 

people. 

 accountability and representation of youth justice issues within the local 

authority 

 

 
 

 

 

LINKS TO THE DONCASTER CHILDREN’S TRUST BUSINESS PLANS  
2015-16 

 

Priority How we will contribute 

That the work of 
the Trust 
contributes 
positively to the 
wider community 
through its 
partnership work, 

The YOS will strive to ensure that it works closely, 

through the Trust and directly, with appropriate 
partners, to ensure a practice that provides 

responsible, equality based outcomes for young 
people and their families 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 6 of 38 

equalities and 
social 
responsibility 
practice. 

 

To focus on the 
potential and 
safety of children, 
young people and 
families by 
providing effective 
and value for 
money services. 

 

We will ensure YOS continues to provide value for money 
without detrimental effect on the work with young people 
and their families 

By listening to 
children, young 
people, their 
families and 
communities to 
ensure that their 
experience of our 
services is a good 
one. 

 

YOS staff will work closely with young people and their 
families and use feedback mechanisms such as 
“Viewpoint”, “What do You Think” Asset and by encouraging 
engagement with Children’s Rights, Participation and 
Advocacy Workers to gain meaningful feedback on the 
service offer and its delivery, using such information to 
develop the service further. 

 

 

That our 
governance, 
resource and risk 
management 
enable our aims to 
be delivered 
efficiently, 
effectively and 
sustainably. 

 

The YOS will work closely with the Trust local authority, 
safeguarding board, safer stronger Doncaster and the 
Youth Justice Board to ensure that its delivery and service 
continues to self-reflect and develop to ensure that it 
produces sustainable outcomes and utilises strong 
governance. It will continue to train staff to develop this as 
well as ensuring that training around effective risk 
management helps to provide strong effective delivery.  

 

 
LINKS TO CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN 2011-16 

 

Priority How we will contribute 
Inspiring Success Working with young offenders to help them re-integrate 

back into local communities so they can develop into 
respected community members. 
Working with all partners to help young offenders to 

engage in suitable Education Training and Employment 
and gain worthwhile employment taking regard of the 

recent changes to the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 
1974 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 7 of 38 

Being Safe and 

Having Fun 
To work with young offenders to help them to appreciate 

the benefits of a safe environment  
To strengthen the YOS safeguarding practices 
To develop our diversionary activity offer and encourage 

engagement with programmes such as the NCS ( 
National Citizenship Service) and Premier League “ 

Kicks” sports engagement programme 
Being Healthy , 

Feeling Good 
We will work with Children’s and Adolescent Mental 

Health Service to ensure quality of service and improve 
quality and consistency of screening. 
Sexual health screening (non-invasive procedures) and 

contraception advice to be given to all young people as 
part of the health needs assessment, where it is 

identified as necessary. We will continue to maintain an 
embedded substance misuse service that delivers Tier 1, 
2 and 3 (up to but not including prescribed treatments).  

 
 
LINKS TO BOROUGH STRATEGY 2010-2015 
 

Theme How we will contribute 

Creating a strong, connected and 
inclusive economy 

If Prevention moves back to the YOS, 
we will work to reduce first time 
entrants to the criminal justice system 

and reoffending thereby contributing to 
a stronger economic situation for 

Doncaster and its businesses 

Developing stronger communities We will work with communities to 

improve local communities by reducing 
offending and working to reintegrate 
young offenders back into their 

communities.  
We will encourage local communities to 

be involved with decisions for outcomes 
for young offenders made through our 
volunteer members. 

Increasing and improving housing We will continue to work with Housing 
Options and St Leger Homes to identify 

suitable accommodation for young 
people desiring supported or 

independent living 
Protecting and improving children’s 

lives 
We will 
work closely with Doncaster 
Safeguarding Board and statutory social 
care services to ensure our work is 

timely and appropriate. 
 
We will work with the ‘Stronger 
Families’ initiatives to provide support 

for those difficult to reach families 
whilst providing staff and Management 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 8 of 38 

to facilitate the programme 

Education advice is also provided to 
‘Stronger Families’ Workers when 
required 

Improving health and support for 
independent lives 

The YOS has a general health nurse 
post who assesses the health needs of 

all new clients and ensures that any 
gaps in health delivery are filled. This 

support is constantly re-assessed to 
ensure that it meets the current health 
requirements of young people, 

particularly those not engaged with 
other health services. 

Tackling crime and anti-social 
behaviour 

We will work with all our partners to 
support them to reduce crime and anti- 

social behaviour at specific times or in 
identified hotspots. 
We will put suitable interventions in 

place to address need for young people. 
Creating a cleaner and better 

environment 
The YOS will work with other DMBC 

teams and partner agencies to target 
offences which affect the environment 

to assist in the reduction of 
environmental issues such as 
abandonment of cars and general fly 

tipping. 

 

 
OTHER DEVELOPMENTS 

 
Strategic outcome How we will contribute 
INTELLIGENT ORGANISATION 

 Improve our systems and 

processes to enable us to 
use our information 

effectively and efficiently 

Work with colleagues in corporate and 

children's services IT to deliver YOS 
information and case management 

system access securely and remotely to 
our statutory partners.  
 
Work with the YJB's Information 
Sharing and Technology Programme 

(collective commissioning) to maximise 
the use of the new Youth Justice 

Management Information System 
(YJMIS) and to deliver to managers and 
staff a complete view of performance 

and management information through 
access to and training on the use of this 

system.    
 
Work with South Yorkshire Police to 

design and implement secure 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 9 of 38 

information sharing on young people 

offending in the locality to improve 
timeliness and quality of information 
flows on offending, offence locations, 

victim information and safeguarding 
information collected on arrest.    
 

Have involvement in YJB Youth Justice 
information management initiative as 

directed by the YJB to standardise 
information sharing. 
 

 Be involved in national delivery design 
to ensure that Doncaster has a voice in 

the shape of national delivery 
programmes 

 
Doncaster YOS will shortly embark on a 
pilot programme looking at maximising 

staff time by utilising technology to give 
greater access to recording systems.  

This will run for a period of three to six 
months and is sponsored by 
CareWorks, who provide the recording 

system for a third of all youth offending 
teams 
 

 

 Use our information to shape 
service provision, provide 
constructive challenge and 

improve our decision making 
at all levels 

Continue to develop the links between 
performance information and the 
operational and management 

information which drives forward the 
service.  
 
Ensure that YOS plans are monitored 

through the Management Board 
cascading down through the internal 
meeting structures to allow effective 

performance management, challenge 
and decision making 
 
 
Improve management information 
systems for reparation activity and 
unpaid work to aid decision making and 

ensure value for money 
 

 Ensure we have the right 
intelligence to inform our 

strategic planning 

Improve information sharing with police 
and other relevant agencies for young 

people subject to Intensive Offender 
Management to ensure appropriate risk 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 10 of 38 

management for non Multi Agency 

Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA) cases who are prolific 
offenders (Deter Young Offender 

model).  Improve Quality Assurance 
processes to increase confidence in data 

for YOS and partner agencies 

 Improve our understanding 

of our customers 
Embed processes to enable young 

people to contribute to recruitment of 
front line staff 
 
Continue to work alongside young 
people and their representatives to 

develop actions to include “Hear by 
Right” 
 
Continue to develop more useful 
feedback systems from sentencers 
 

 Build trust with local 
communities to encourage 
greater engagement 

Continue to develop area based 
community reparation projects 
 
Develop system for local people to 
contribute ideas for reparation and 

unpaid work projects 
 

Actively  encourage members of the 
community to support YOS and young 
offenders through the volunteer 

programme 
Value for money 

 Embed value for money at all 

levels 
Review the learning from the Ministry of 

Justice stocktake. Additionally, to 
review the YOS structure no less than 
every six months but certainly when 

replacing individual posts to give 
consideration as to whether it can be a 

lower grade post or needs to be 
maintained at the same level or higher.  
 

 

 Implement a commissioning 
approach which delivers 
value for money and ensures 

the best provider 

Work with partners and other South 
Yorkshire Youth Offending Services to 
ensure that commissioning is given due 

consideration and to create best value.  
 

Values led organisation 

 Ensure we have the right 
staff, in the right place with 

the right skills at the right 
time 

Monitor and develop the restructure to 
ensure effectiveness of delivery. Review 

of the service delivery to ensure that 
best practice is at the heart of the YOS 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 11 of 38 

and reflect that the needs of our young 

people are dynamic.  
 
Take positive action to increase the 
numbers of volunteers 
 
Continue to identify training and 
development needs through 

Performance Development Review’s 
(PDR’s) 
 
A robust induction programme for staff 
new to youth justice tailored to their 

roles and responsibilities using Youth 
Justice Interactive Learning Space 

(YJILS) and other mechanisms. 

 Empower, support and 

develop our staff by 
embedding core skills and 
behaviours 

Monitoring of appraisal system 
 
Increase use of Youth Justice 

Interactive Learning opportunities 

 
Promote wider learning and access to 

research via appropriate media (i.e. 
internet etc.) 

 
LINKS TO  SAFER DONCASTER PARTNERSHIP PLAN 

 
STRATEGIC OUTCOME HOW WE WILL CONTRIBUTE 
Improving lives by reducing the harm 

caused by substance misuse 
Ensure all young people are assessed 

in terms of their substance usage and 
referred where this is identified as 

problematic. 
 
In particular, YOS will continue its 

proactive stance on the issue within 
Doncaster of addressing Neuro 

Psychoactive Substance (NPS) usage 
by young people.  

Supporting victims and reducing the 
risk of victimisation 

Continue to develop essential protocols 
between YOS, South Yorkshire Police 

and DCS Trust in respect of incidents in 
looked after placements which might 
result in police intervention and action.   
 
Contract manage REMEDI to deliver 

restorative justice training to partners 
when assessed as appropriate 

Reducing and managing offending 
behaviour 

For the incoming Trainee Forensic 
Psychologist to review the existing 
content of the Core Thinking Skills 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 12 of 38 

(CTS) programme and look at 

completing the planned extension of 
such to be more commensurate with 
What Works intensity 
 
Continue to use “Teen Talk” and also 

review its efficacy. 
 

To continue to offer the current raft of 
Specialist services but also review gaps 
in provision. 

 
Review the currency of the Individual 

offending behaviour sessions on offer 
and the Junior Attendance Centre. 
 

To work with young people and their 
families to reduce teen on parent 

domestic abuse via the Getting On 
programme 

Improving community confidence and 
public satisfaction 

Work within DCST public relations 
strategy 
 
Work with REMEDI to develop and 
promote systems for local people to 

contribute ideas for reparation and 
unpaid work projects 
 
Publish good practice and results 
through DCST 

 
 

3. Vision for service 

 

 
Doncaster YOS will continue to work with children, young people and their 

families to prevent and to challenge offending, encourage responsibility, develop 
victim empathy and reduce the fear of crime. 
 
Doncaster YOS has made substantial improvements over recent years, across 
most of our National Indicators. We have contributed to making Doncaster a 

safer place by reducing reoffending and maintaining a good percentage of young 
people in education, training or employment. The Youth Justice Board has again 

identified Doncaster YOS as a ‘green’ rated YOS in most areas of delivery. A rise 
in First time Entrants is being examined and as part of a proposed restructure 
within DCS Trust, a Prevention service delivery arm may be created. 
 
Over the next 3 years we will work with partners to sustain and build on these 

successes, although this needs to be set against a backdrop of financial 
uncertainty and potential changes in the direction of national policy. 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 13 of 38 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

4. Customers/users 

 
Doncaster YOS works with young people aged from 10 (the age of criminal 

responsibility) to 18 (when they are transferred into the adult criminal justice 
system and are supervised by the National Probation Service or Community 

Rehabilitation Company).  
 
In common with other Youth Offending Teams across England and Wales, the 

 
Doncaster YOS is now part of the new Doncaster Children’s Services Trust.  By 
remaining within the Children’s Service delivery model the YOS will be best 

placed to continue to provide the most effective service available for the people 
of Doncaster. 

  
Funding to YOS from all sources for this financial year has generally been 
maintained with indications of small reductions from some main contributors. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is now a contributor to the Service alongside 
the Local Authority, Youth Justice Board, Police, Health and Probation. However, 
like all YOT’s, Doncaster has to rise to the challenge of working in an 

environment of reduced funding whilst maintaining effective practice.   
 

In 2013/14 Central Government devolved the cost of young people remanded in 
custody to the local authority.  In the case of Doncaster, the cost in 2014/15 

was £199,422. Funding from the Youth Justice Board did not cover this cost 
which was underpinned by additional funding from the Trust.  This will be a 
major pressure on the YOS budget. New legislation was expected to reduce the 

number of young people remanded into custody, as well as reducing the length 
of any remand period. This did not materialise in Doncaster following some very 

serious offences resulting in long periods of remand for a number of individuals.  
 
Working within the current funding arrangements and the new Children’s Trust 

Doncaster YOS will deliver against its plan and will restructure as necessary to 
ensure staff work effectively with police and all other partners to deliver the best 

service possible.  This will include continuing to work with Police to use the 
LASPO act to further reduce court appearances by Young People. 
 
Doncaster YOS will continue to work with IFST and other partners to maintain a 
balance between preventative and intensive intervention.  To help with this 

Central Government has transferred the Junior Attendance Centre management 
to YOS.  This will enhance our ability to work closely with young people who 

have received attendance centre court requirements. 
 
Sustaining any overall increases in face to face interventions on a diminishing 

budget will continue to be a challenge.  Close multi agency partnership working 
will be key to meeting additional needs that increase the risk of reoffending.  

Working with IFST and Stronger Families will support Doncaster YOS to deliver 
effective interventions through a strong partnership approach. 
 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 14 of 38 

4. Customers/users 

nature of the service given to children and young people will depend on the 
seriousness and persistence of their offending behaviour.  Where practicable the 

YOS will involve itself with Prevention projects, based in high crime areas of the 
area, work with targeted young people and their families to try and prevent 
them at the earliest stage possible escalating into criminal or anti-social 

behaviour, however it is recognised that the responsibility for this remit will be 
determined by the restructure and will fall within the role of the newly created 

Integrated Family Support Team or the YOS Prevention Team depending on the 
outcome.   

 
If a young person is caught for a minor offence for the first time they will usually 
receive a community restorative outcome from the police.  If they re-offend and 

the matter is not too serious and they will receive a conditional caution from the 
police, they will be offered a conditional intervention programme by the YOS.  

This will consist of a full assessment to determine the most appropriate 
interventions to be completed. This could consist of intervention for up to three 
months in duration targeting problematic areas of their lives (such as education 

attendance or drug or alcohol use) assessed as risk factors for future offending.  
If a young person continues to re-offend they will go to court and receive a 

number of different sentences supported by a service from the YOS.  The 
duration, intensity and content of each sentence is determined by both the 

sentencers and the assessed level of risk posed by the young person. 
 
Whilst we aim to positively engage young people and work constructively with 

them and their parents/carers, our service users are not volunteers and are 
obliged to maintain contact with us because of the requirements of an order of 

the courts.  Managing non-compliance, ensuring swift follow-up and breach, 
balanced with engagement, is an essential way of maintaining the confidence of 
the courts and the public.  We aim to maximise compliance by relationship 

building with the young people and their families and by developing their 
motivation to build on positive factors in their lives and address their problems 

constructively.  We have introduced a compliance panel to work with young 
people in an effort to improve their engagement with their order and reduce the 

number of young people returned to court. 
 
Young people and their parents are involved in planning and reviews 

interventions at every stage. 
 
We are introducing a system of recruitment which involves a panel of young 
people in the process for our front line youth justice workers.  We will run a 

small number of young people’s consultation events over the year and intend to 
develop our consultation framework in the future.   
 
We will undergo self-assessment regarding our ability to engage young people, 
with a view to identifying areas for improvement.  This forms part of our action 

plan for reducing re-offending by children and young people.  
 
Children and young people subject to court orders and their families are not our 
only customers.  Ultimately, our customers are the wider public whose lives are 
affected by crime and specifically, the victims of the crimes committed by the 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 15 of 38 

4. Customers/users 

young people on our books.  We have victim liaison staff who will contact victims 
of the young people known to us in order to provide information and facilitate 

mediation or reparation.  Each victim is invited to give us feedback on the 
service they have received. We organise a range of community reparation 
activities and plan to develop mechanisms to enable the public to give their 

views more effectively about what types of community reparation projects they 
would like to see. 
 
 
 
 

5. Budget information 

 
Funding commitments for 2015-16 are subject to final confirmation. The 
information provided is the indicative position as at 01/04/2015.  A number of 

actions may be necessary to manage any further changes in commitments.  
 

The core YOS service is likely to receive a total budget of £1,812,625 ( in kind 
contributions in terms of staff placed at the YOS by a partnership agency 

not included) 
 

The direction of travels remains uncertain due to the financial climate and 
potential political change which may also affect future priorities of the 
government.  

 

 

Where does our funding come from 

 
Source    Cash  Kind   Total   

  
YJB     717,520   717,520  

Local Authority   814,025   814,025  
Probation (inc 3 Probation staff) 63,732 110,972 174,704 
PCC cash contribution  160,000   160,000 

Health (inc seconded nurse  
and CAMHS)    57,348 67,832 125,180 

Police (seconded Police Officers)   132,126 132,126 
 
TOTAL     1,812,625 310,930 2,123,555 

 

 

 

6. Workforce planning 

 
Analysis of information from our ‘statistical neighbours’ have demonstrated that 
youth justice staff in Doncaster have a balanced caseload.  This includes the 

addition of family support work through the Stronger Families agenda.  The YOS 
specific case weighting system allows managers to effectively balance individual 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 16 of 38 

workloads.  The YOS is currently re-visiting the case allocation process and this 

may result in further re-structuring to ensure value for money service delivery.  
At the same time expectations around safeguarding, risk management and 
programmed work are ever increasing.  It  is recognised that we are unlikely to 

be able to increase our staffing levels in the current financial climate and that we 
need to ensure all staff are trained and supported to work as effectively as 

possible to meet the challenges ahead.  
 
  

 
Staff and volunteer training remains a priority for the Service.  All frontline staff 

and their managers completed YJB or DMBC or partner sponsored training 
programmes in 2013/14.  An intensive ‘in house’ programme delivered by senior 
management has enabled the quality of work in Doncaster to be substantially 

improved .  This learning will continue during the forthcoming years via line 
management processes ensuring all staff have a robust understanding of risk 

and re-offending assessment.      

 
 

7. How your future plans will be aligned with/or impact on the 

support service areas shown, or the corporate initiatives 

 

Area Future Plans & Impact 
ICT 
 

 

Doncaster YOS will continue to review its ICT.  Doncaster 
YOS principally uses the CareWorks database and this will 

be reviewed against alternatives on an annual basis.  YOS 
based staff also input or have access to many more 

databases.  Reviewing this with ICT and partners is 
designed to ensure that efficient use of ICT is made. 

Procurement & 
Commissioning 
 

Doncaster YOS will continue to consider services for 
procurement and commissioning in partnership with 
Children’s Services and Safer Doncaster.  Reparation and 

Unpaid Work for 16 and 17 year old offenders are the 
largest commissioned contract managed by Doncaster 

YOS; these have been reviewed and re-commissioned.  It 
will also work with other regional YOS to ensure joint 
commissioning to achieve best value. 

Asset 
Management 
 

The YOS is integrated in the Council’s strategic service 
asset management plan.  Equipment purchased 

(nominally IT equipment under £600 Per unit) is recorded 
and maintained on the council’s corporate IT asset 

register held within the IT service.  IT Services are 
responsible for replacement and renewal of purchased IT 
equipment under the managed service agreement 

contract with the YOS. 
Property  

Management 
 

The Councils Asset Management Group review YOS 

properties to ensure best value and efficient use of 
resources.  Cost of property maintenance is managed 

through DMBC via their contractual arrangements with 
DCS Trust, to ensure efficient use of contractors for jobs 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 17 of 38 

and achieve economies of scale for contacts.  The YOS 

relocated during the previous financial year to the 
Colonnades.  This has allowed much better contact with 
young people and addressed the on-going concerns that 

have been voiced by them with regard to the location of 
YOS.  The service is planning to extend its opening hours 

to meet client needs with regular late opening and 
weekend service access now available.  The aim of these 
strategies is to achieve greater flexibility and access for 

service users.  
Equality and 

Diversity  
 

We will be working closely with DCST to ensure our 

practices are appropriate in this area.   
 
We will impact assess appropriate new service 
developments.  
 
We will be developing new systems to regularly collect 
and collate diversity information across the borough to 

identify and manage fair and equal access to services for 
all young people. 
 
All future programmes to be assessed for learning styles 

and accessibility with the help of speech and language 
specialist offer being developed by DMBC.  Young people 
with particular learning needs will have their service offer 

determined in line with their needs whilst managing 
statutory requirements. 
 
For young people out of post 16 education, training and 

employment we will identify and take into account their 
literacy and numeracy levels and if these are missing test 
for them to assist in appropriate placement. 

We will screen clients for dyslexia and where dyslexia is 
potentially identified, promote onward referral for full 

assessment and resultant support. 
 

 
Efficiency 
 
 

A number of actions to reduce costs within DCST 

guidelines and directives are being implemented.  Where 
savings opportunities are being identified we are working 
to develop and introduce them.  The YOS has now moved 

location to Colonnades and this will reduce overall running 
costs for both YOS and DCST as well as giving young 

people a far more accessible service 
 
The YOS is also looking at commissioning services where 
it can to become more efficient and cost effective.  Where 
possible this will be done together with other YOS services 

in South Yorkshire 
 
Budget holder training for relevant staff will help to ensure 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 18 of 38 

that YOS continues to keep within its budget plans. 
Managing attendance targets have been tightened to 
improve attendance and reduce the number of days lost 
through sickness in line with Trust policy.  Improved 

reporting and monitoring of triggers is being introduced to 
ensure timely action to improve attendance.  Sickness 

stage review monitoring and consistency of target setting 
in line with Trust policies have been put in place.   

 
The offending behaviour intervention offer will be 
reviewed and extended by the creation of a Trainee 

Forensic Psychologist post, who will have a clear remit to 
develop the raft of interventions as well as develop 

modules to enhance CTS delivery. 
Consulting Project 1 

 
Doncaster YOS will work with their 

commissioned partners in developing 
plans to give local residents an 
opportunity to have their say about 

community reparation projects 

 Project 2 
 
 

 

Doncaster YOS will continue to support 

a volunteering programme, including 
recruiting and training community 

panellists, mentors and support for 
reparation work. 

 
 
 

8. Information Governance 

 

Security 

 
Doncaster YOS data is held within the Doncaster Council network and is subject 
to the security of the council infrastructure.  Access to the CareWorks data is 
protected by first level access to the council network, which is administered by 

Doncaster Council procedures then secondary username and password access 
which is administered by the IT and Information team within the YOS.  The 

system has a level of profiling to prevent excessive access and editing rights to 
data, and an audit trail to track events and actions on accounts to identify the 
author of changes.  Where necessary staff will use the Children’s Services Liquid 

Logic system to input relevant information.  To enable this to happen staff have 
been trained accordingly to ensure security of information. 

 
The YOS uses induction and exit procedures to ensure that staff are removed 

from authorised access to systems on leaving the service. 
 
The YOS database is backed up twice daily as a business critical system and 

emergency recovery procedures allow for a loss of input data up to 24 hours.  
 

 

Quality 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 19 of 38 

 
The YOS complies with data quality audit of DCST and data and performance is 
monitored and challenged at monthly performance and quarterly management 

board (Partnership) meetings.  The YOS employs a system of quality control 
checks on input data and performance.  
 
The YOS employs a small IT & Information team to analyse and check input data 
on the CareWorks system.  An Operational Manager has responsibility for Quality 

Control to ensure that good practice and accuracy underpin the data entered.  
The YOS management team has responsibility to ensure that identified training 
needs are effectively commissioned or delivered in-house. 
 

Legal and Regulatory Compliance 

 
Doncaster YOS works to ensure that data and information is held and handled in 
conjunction with all legal regulation, principally the Data Protection Act, the 

Freedom of Information Act, and the Human Rights Act.  
 
The YOS works with Information Governance, IT security teams and the Legal 
department within DCST to ensure that the provision of legislation regarding the 
appropriate legal use of data is upheld and maintained.  
 
 
 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 20 of 38 

 

9. Success and learning from last year 
 

A. Achievements 

 Successful outcomes from targeted inspections by YJB and Ministry of Justice Further reduction in reoffending rates 
 Supporting the training of social workers and other staff within DCST and the local authority 

 Continued provision of dedicated staff to Stronger Families 
 On-going development of health needs assessments by a general health nurse resulting in young people known to the 

YOS having better access to healthcare services 

 Continued improvements in quality of assessments and assessment led interventions 
 Excellent financial management leading to improved performance whilst keeping to budget 

 Improvements in compliance with new nationally agreed standards of delivery.  Electronic transfer of key information 
to and from secure estate and police resulting in better risk management  

 Improvements in integrated working. 

 Strategic partnerships are strong leading to improved multi-agency working with young people with complex needs 
 Strong improving performance of young people gaining access to education, training and employment in a very 

difficult financial climate nationally 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
 

 

 

B.  On-going Objectives 

 

Outcome Progress Learning 2015/16 
Improved public 
confidence in Youth 
Justice 

 
 

Much has been done to 
increase the public perception 
of safety, however this is a 

continuous process affected by 
national events 

 

Need to ensure that All 
elements of good practice and 
results are conveyed to the 

public in a positive manner 
 

 
On-going work 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 21 of 38 

 

Improve assessment of 
risk 
 

 

Considerable training delivered 
in 2014, taken forwards by 
Team Leaders in 1-2-1 sessions 

to ensure that learning has 
been assimilated into practice. 

Risk Management Plan and 
Vulnerability Management Plan 
now more comprehensive and 

robust, especially around 
potential triggers and the 

necessary actions should 
triggers be reached. 

 

Need to consolidate and 
formalise the management 
oversight of risk processes 

within in a streamlined 
approach 

 

On-going work.   

Literacy and numeracy 
needs for young people 
being effectively 

addressed 
 

In the main this happens via 
ETE providers but it is not yet 
consistently taken into account 

by workers within the YOS in 
terms of adapting delivery. 

Literacy and numeracy needs 
to be assessed where this has 
not been provided by the ETE 

provider. Methods of delivery 
with young person need to 

consistently take into account 
the level of literacy functioning 
 

 
 

 

On-going work 

 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 22 of 38 

 

10. Key Performance Indicators 

Description Owner 12 months 

to March 
2014 

2015/16 
Target 

2014/15 
Year-End 
outturn 

Service plan numbered actions 

Numbers of first time entrants into 

the Youth Justice System  
FTE PNC rate per 100,000 of 10-17 

population 

Management 

Team 

582 

 
500 662 

(FTE’s are 

tracked 1 
year 

behind 
existing 

cohort) 

See action plan 3  

Percentage of children and young 

people known to the YOS receiving 
their statutory entitlement to 

education or training 
 

Giles 

Wilkinson 
72% 75% 72.2% See action plan 2 

Use of custody rate per 1,000 of 10 
-17 population   

Management 
Team 

1.59 0.42 0.69 See action plan 5 

Proven re-offending rates for 
children and young people. This is 
represents the percentage of young 

people who re-offended in the 
identified cohort 

 

Management 
Team 

31.9% 32% 34.5% See action plan 2 
 

 
 

Percentage of children and young 

people known to the YOS in 
suitable accommodation 
 

Management 

Team 
100% 100% 100% See action plan 2 

The ethnic composition of young 

offenders  
Management 

Team 
3.2% 4% 3.24% See action plan 1 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 23 of 38 

 
 
 
 

 
 

11. Monitoring and communicating the service plan 

This Service Improvement Plan has been developed with input from the YOS 

Management Team as well as the YOS Management Board.  
 
All staff managers from the YOS meet together every two weeks to discuss 

strategic developments or areas of concern.  Progress against targets in the plan 
will be monitored at this level and communicated to staff via team meetings or 
YOS briefing sessions.  The Partnership will be informed about key issues as and 

when they develop.    
 
The Plan will be made available to the Doncaster Children’s Services Board, the 
Safer Doncaster Executive Board, the Local Children’s Safeguarding Board and 
the Children Doncaster Partnership.  It will be made available on the Doncaster 

Childrens Services Trust website.   
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Plan(s)  
 

Responsible 
Team & 

Partner(s) 

Reported to 
(and 

frequency) 
 

Training Plan 

 

YOS Management 

YOS management 

Team and Board 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 24 of 38 

Team  (quarterly) 

 
Reducing custody By 

Children in Care Plan 

 
CiC forum (joint YOS 

and CYPS) 

Chief Operating 
Officer 

 

Reducing custody 
Plan 

 

YOS management 
team 

 

Youth Justice 
Board  
(quarterly) 

Asset+ 
Implementation Plan 

ASSET+ 
Implementation 

Change Lead 

YOS Partnership 
(quarterly) 

Safeguarding Plan 

 

YOS Management 

Team 

Doncaster 

Children’s 
Safeguarding 

Board 
(annually) 

Youth Justice Plan Police, Health, 

Probation, YJ, Local 
Authority, PCC 

YJB, DCS Trust, 

PCC, Safer 
Doncaster 

Partnership, 
Doncaster 

Children’s 
Safeguarding 
Board 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 25 of 38 

 

12. Action plan 

Reference Number 1.0 

  

Outcome Improved public confidence in the youth justice 
system.  

Responsible 
 

Resources / Accommodation 
Implications 

Team  Partners 
YOS management team 
 

 

Safer Doncaster, 
South Yorkshire 

Police 

Resources limited by budget 
restrictions.   

Action(s)  Success Measures 
  
Develop system for appropriate selection and 
de-selection of young people for DYO and IOM 

lists 
 
Improved joint working with police case 
workers and police offender management unit 
 
  

Successful implementation of 
Integrated Offender Management and 

DYO strategies, leading to a reduction 
in levels of offending amongst 
targeted group 
 
 

Implement community involvement in delivery 

of reparation and unpaid work 
Improved public involvement in 

choice of reparation and unpaid work 
provision 
 

 
Encourage new magistrates to spend time with 
YOS workers to find out what we do and how 
we do it 

Numbers of new magistrates 
spending time with the YOS 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 26 of 38 

 

Progress and Comments 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Reference Number 2.0 

  

Outcome Reduced re-offending by children and young people 

Responsible 
 

Resources / Accommodation 
Implications 

Team  Partners 
YOS management team All agencies 

represented on 

Management 
Board 

Resources limited by budget restrictions 

Action(s)  Success Measures 
Development of comprehensive and 

quality menu of appropriate interventions 
tackling offending behaviour, to be 
supported by recruitment of trainee 

forensic psychologist 
 
 

Range of evidence based interventions 

available  
 
Re-offending rates, as evidenced by 
monitoring of rate of proven re-offending 
through analysis of cohort information 
 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 27 of 38 

 

 
Improve risk assessment and 

management systems 

 
Review and streamlining of risk 

management processes to take place by 
October 2015. 

Maintain improvements in the numbers of 

young people known to the YOS in 
suitable accommodation by: 

 Maintaining and strengthening links 
with a wide range of housing 

providers in the borough 
 Ensuring the accommodation needs 

of young people are represented in 
strategic plans across the borough 

 Working closely with 18+ service 

and Referral and Response Team to 
ensure best provision for YOS 
young people of Doncaster  

 
 
 

Maintenance of improvements in suitable 
accommodation for young people who 

offend 
 
Support services for YOS young people 

continuing 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 28 of 38 

Applying the YOS-Children In Care 

Education Service’s Service Level 
Agreement ensuring close monitoring of 
all Children in Care and their Education 

Training and Employment engagement to 
ensure that all Doncaster CiC get the 

support with ETE they are entitled to in 
order to be successful 

 

 

 
ASSET+ (the assessment document used 
by all Youth Offending Service by 2016) 

demonstrating that the needs of CiC have 
been considered 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
Work closely with the Stronger Families 

programme to ensure that the right 
families are targeted and worked with. 
 
This will be done by 

 Embedding processes within YOS 

which support the programme 
 Working with all partners to ensure 

effective management of resources 
 Providing developed skilled staff to 

target the identified problems 
 

 

 

The reduction of interventions and 

emergency responses by all agencies 
 
Increased public confidence 
 

 
Reduction in re-offending rates 

Progress and Comments 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 29 of 38 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Reference Number 3.0 

  

Outcome Reduced first time entrants into the Youth Justice 
System 

Responsible 
 

Resources / Accommodation 
Implications 

Team  Partners 
YOS Management Team South Yorkshire 

Police, CYPS, IFST, 

ABC+ 

 

Action(s)  Success Measures 
  
Ensure that recording processes for 1st time 
entrants on CareWorks is efficient and effective 
with regard to information being created by 

IFST team 
 

High number of ONSET/ASSET+ 
records being quality assured not 
requiring amendments. 

Work closely with IFST and ABC+ unit to 

develop protocols for identification and 
notification of young people likely to offend.  

To include siblings. 

Reduction in first time entrants 

Provide support and training for use of ONSET 

and CareWorks to IFST staff 
Improve quality of data being 

created and stored 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 30 of 38 

Improve quality of assessment 
Assist IFST to develop successful restorative 
intervention referral system for young people 

without criminal convictions on arrest  
 
 

 
 

Dependent on the proposed re-structure, 
implement a new prevention team within the 
YOS, which will target areas of high 

depravation work with families whose children 
are on the cusp of offending 

Numbers of young people receiving a 
restorative intervention 
 
Numbers of young people receiving a 
restorative intervention who 

subsequently re-offend 
 

Improved prevention offer and more 
children and young people directly 

worked with, hopefully reducing the 
number of first time entrants by at 
least 10% in the first six months and 

20% by year end 

Progress and Comments 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Reference Number 4.0 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 31 of 38 

  

Outcome More effective and accountable safeguarding 
practice 

Responsible 
 

Resources / Accommodation 
Implications 

Team  Partners 
YOS management team DCS Trust, 

Safeguarding Team 
and Board 

 

Action(s)  Success Measures 
 

Implementation plans to reduce custody for 
Children in Care 
 

Reductions of percentage of Children 
in care in custody  

 
Increase numbers of CAF’s completed on 

young people known to the YOS, where their 
level of Vulnerability is assessed as Medium or 

above. 
 
Further Assessment training for staff and 

managers will be needed 
 
Prioritisation of involvement in CAF planning 
meetings 
 
Establish consistent methods of recording all of 

the above 
 
 

 

 
Numbers of CAF plans initiated by 

YOS staff 
 

 
 
Numbers of staff CAF trained 
 

 
Percentage of meetings attended by 

YOS staff 
 
Audits taking place every quarter  
 
 

 

 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 32 of 38 

 

 
Ensure all staff are given appropriate 

safeguarding training in their induction 
 
Ensure managers are have sufficient clarity 
regarding levels of need 
 
 

Completion of e-safeguarding 

training course and any further 
training programmes identified 

throughout the year 

 

 
 

 

 

Progress and Comments 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Reference Number 5.0 

  

Outcome Reduced custody rates 

Responsible 

 

Resources / Accommodation 

Implications 

Team  Partners 

YOS management 

team 

South Yorkshire 

Police, sentencers,  
CPS  

 

Action(s)  Success Measures 
Encourage the engagement of Magistrates and Reduction in numbers of young 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 33 of 38 

District Judges and the Courts in the work of 

the YOS 
 

 
Exploring processes to enable case holders to 
attend with their young people without 

detriment to effective time management 
 
Provide a briefing for relevant YOS staff 
regarding breach processes and practice 
 

Ensure magistrates are given feedback about 
positive outcomes 
 

Ensure that Magistrates have access to a 
proportion of cases where Out of Court 

Disposal has been used to ensure confidence in 
system 
 

people sentenced to custody to 0.42  

of per 1,000 of 10 -17 population   
 

 
Increased court confidence 
 

 
 

YOS staff attending breach briefing 
 

Evidenced through quality assurance 
processes 
 
Further development of system for 
giving magistrates feedback on 

positive outcomes 

 
 
 

 

Progress and Comments 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Key for progress column 

Blue identifies actions which have been completed 

Green identifies actions which are on track and progressing well 

Amber identifies actions where there has been some delay or obstacle, but it will 

still be possible to complete the action by the end of the year 

Red identifies actions which are not progressing as planned and which are at 

significant risk of not being achieved at all; they may require significant 
development or re-design   



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 34 of 38 

 

13. Service area risks 

 

The key risks that could stop or make it difficult for the service area to meet its outcomes have been plotted on 
the risk map below and described and evaluated in the summary risk register.  The analyses behind each risk and 

the action plans proposed to manage them have been included in the detailed service risk register.   
 

 

Click and drag the risk numbers to plot them on the risk map: 

Risk Map

M
a

jo
r

(4
)

Im
p

a
c
t

M
o

d
e

ra
te

 

(3
)

M
in

o
r 

  
  

  
  

(2
)

In
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t 

(1
)

Rare (1) Unlikely (2) Possible (3) Probable (4)

Probability

   Almost certain (5)

H
ig

h
ly

 S
ig

. 

(5
)

Very high

High

Medium

Low

Key

1
1 

2 
 
1 
3 
 
1 

4 
 
1 

5 
 
1 

6 
 
1 

7 
 
1 

8 
 
1 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 35 of 38 

Summary Risk Register – Template A 

 

No. Risk 
Risk / 

Issue 
Prob Impact Rating 

Delegated 

owner(s) 
Key contact(s) 

Last 

review 

date 

1 
Funding from YJB and partners 

reducing 
 2 4 High/Medium Graham Hobson Carol Harris 31.12.15 

2 

Increase in offending rates due 

to adverse economic climate, 

leading to increase in workload 

 3 3 High Graham Hobson Kathryn West 31.12.15 

3 

Increase in demand for more 

intensive services due to changes 

in assessment practices or 

expectations of the Courts not 

matching services or 

interventions available 

 3 3 High Graham Hobson 
Helen Jones 

Kathryn West 
31.12.15 

4 

Budgets reductions would have 

an impact on performance.  In 

turn, a harsh HMIP inspection 

assessment coupled with public 

perception of the descriptors 

(which are now framed 

negatively) could damage our 

reputation and lower public 

confidence in our work 

 3 2 High/Medium Graham Hobson Management Team 31.12.15 

 

 

 
 

 
 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 36 of 38 

 

 

Head of Service 

Graham Hobson 

01302 736100 
Acting Service Manager 

 

Operational Manager  
Interventions  Grade 11 

 

Substance Misuse  Co-Ordinator 10 

Programmes Officer  YJ  Support  
Worker 7 

Accommodation Officers 8  

Recreation Officer 7 

ETE Co-Ordinator EIMP 3 

 

Re-Integration Worker 6 

 

Parenting Assistant 8 

 

Careers Advisors 8 x 2 

Parenting Officer 9 

 

Programmes Officer YJ Support 
Worker 7 

 

Youth Justice Officer 9 

 

Operational Manager 
Case Management 11 

Team Leader  10 
 

YJ Officer 9 x 3.5 
 

YJ Worker  
 

Youth Panel Co-ordinator 7 

 

Probation Secondee 

 

 

Team Leader (Court) *  10 
 

Probation Secondee – 
Triage YJ Officer 9 

 

YJ Worker  

 

(Bail Supervision & 
Support) 8 

 

Court Liaison Officer x8 

 

 

Team Leader  10 
 

YJ Officer 9 x 2  

YJ Support Worker 7  
Senior Practitioner CIC  9 

Accommodation  Officers 8 

YJ Worker 8 x 1.5  

Probation Secondee 

 
Information Service Development 

Manager  9 

Information & 
Development Assistant  

5  

Service & Case Support  

Supervisor  7 

 

S&CS Asst  5 x  5.8  

 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 37 of 38 

Performance Indicators 2014/15 
 
Custody Performance 
 
 

 
Apr 13 - Mar 14 Apr 14 - Mar 15 

YOT 
Custodial 
sentences 

Rate per 1.000 of 
10-17 population 

Custodial 
sentences 

Rate per 1.000 of 
10-17 population 

Doncaster 43 1.56 19 0.69 

North East 495 0.69 351 0.49 

National 2617 0.53 2083 0.42 

 
Indicators 

           
            

FTE PNC rate per 100,000 of 10-17 population  **Good performance is typified by a negative percentage 

                                                                                                                     Doncaster                  North East                                                                                                                                

 
PCC area 

 

YOT 
Comparison 
Group            England 

 
            Jan 14 - Dec 14 (latest period) 662 

 
472 

 
584 

 
520 

 
409 

  
           Jan 13 - Dec 13 

 
582 

 
488 

 
554 

 
550 

 
448 

  
           percent change from selected baseline 13.8% 

 
-3.4% 

 
5.5% 

 
-5.5% 

 
-8.7% 

  
           Use of custody rate per 1,000 of 10 -17 population  **Good performance is typified by a low rate 

      
England 

 
            Apr 14 - Mar 15  (latest period) 0.69 

 
0.49 

 
0.32 

 
0.31 

 
0.42 

 
 

 
  

         Apr 13 - Mar 14 

 
1.59 

 
0.63 

 
0.37 

 
0.42 

 
0.52 

 
            change from selected baseline -0.90 

 
-0.17 

 
-0.05 

 
-0.11 

 
-0.10 

  
           Reoffending rates after 12 months 

          
            frequency rate - Jul 12 to Jun 13 cohort  (latest period) 1.00 

 
1.19 

 
1.01 

 
1.06 

 
1.10 

 
            frequency rate - Jul 11 - Jun 12 cohort 0.85 

 
1.08 

 
0.95 

 
1.02 

 
1.02 

 
            change from selected baseline 0.14 

 
0.11 

 
0.06 

 
0.04 

 
0.09 

 



Doncaster Youth Offending Service Delivery Plan 

   
 
 
  Page 38 of 38 

 
           binary rate - Jul 12 to Jun 13 cohort (latest period) 34.5% 

 
38.2% 

 
35.2% 

 
35.0% 

 
36.5% 

 
            binary rate - Jul 11 - Jun 12 cohort 31.9% 

 
35.9% 

 
34.3% 

 
34.8% 

 
35.3% 

 
            percentage point change from selected baseline 2.6% 

 
2.3% 

 
0.9% 

 
0.3% 

 
1.2% 

                         

 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i8 Council 240915 SCR Devolution.doc 

 
                    
 

 
Corporate Report Format 
 
 
To the Chair and Members of Full Council 
 
Sheffield City Region Devolution Deal Update 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.  Devolution provides a significant opportunity for the city region to have far 

greater control over how it will deliver economic growth than under current 
arrangements. The devolution submission attached, sets out 30 asks over 7 
themes and responds to the Government’s budget announcement to work 
towards a devolution deal with Sheffield City Region in order to strengthen 
the northern powerhouse. 

 
 Government wish to make an announcement as part of the Autumn 

Statement expected in November. As such, the timescales involved in 
finalising the devolution deal are extremely tight. On Wednesday 16 
September the City Region representatives spent the day with Government 
negotiating the thematic asks. 

 
 While the Mayor and city region leaders believe the current city region 

governance structures are appropriate for delivering the devolution deal, the 
Government is clear that without a city region Mayor, devolved powers will 
not be possible. 

 
EXEMPT REPORT 
 
2.  Not applicable.  

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.  It is recommended that Council:- 
 
 (i)   Notes the Sheffield City Region devolution submission; and 

 
 (ii)  Notes the involvement of the Chief Executive, Mayor and senior 

 officers in the negotiation of devolution “asks” with Government. 
 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
4.  Devolution provides a significant opportunity for the city region to have far 

greater control over how it will deliver economic growth than under current 
arrangements. The seven themes of the devolution ask, set out in the 
attached devolution submission, will provide the tools that the city region 
need to improve the mobility of labour, support indigenous business growth, 
equip residents with the skills required to access the labour market and 
provide long term financial stability. 

 

Agenda Item No: 8 
24th September, 2015                                 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i8 Council 240915 SCR Devolution.doc 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
5.  At the budget in March 2015, to fulfil its commitment to rebalance the 

economy and further strengthen the northern powerhouse, the Government 
announced that it was working towards further devolution deals with the 
Sheffield, Leeds and Liverpool city regions. 

 
 The Sheffield City Region has been working in partnership with the private 

sector to take more decisions locally over the last four years, with the 
creation of a Combined Authority, providing local democratic accountability, 
cementing the region’s desire to take more responsibility for the success of 
the economy. 

 
 The devolution submission, attached as Appendix A, sets out 30 asks by the 

Sheffield City Region to the government over 7 different themes: 
 

- An integrated 21st century transport network 
- A world leading area for innovation, advanced manufacturing and business 

growth 
- More young people in Apprenticeships, earning or learning and higher 

employment 
- Better use of publicly owned assets 
- A stable, long term financial settlement 
- Greater accountability of national programmes 
- Public service reform 

 
 Government plans to make an announcement as part of the Autumn 

Statement expected in November.  As such, the timescales involved in 
finalising the devolution deal are extremely tight. Chief Executives, Leaders 
and the City Region executive met in London to discuss the detail of the 
“asks” with Government officials on Wednesday 16 September. At the time 
of writing this report further timescales and milestones were not available. It 
is important that Doncaster Council remains engaged and responds swiftly 
and flexibly when required to lead / support the discussions. 

 
 While the Mayor and city region leaders believe the current city region 

governance structures are appropriate for delivering the devolution deal, the 
Government is clear that without a city region Mayor, additional devolved 
powers and funding will not be possible. 

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
6.  Government is actively seeking to implement a devolution deal with the 

Sheffield City Region. This represents a significant opportunity to take local 
control for decisions that directly affect the city region’s economy.  The 
Mayor and Chief Executive are actively involved in the process of 
negotiating the deal with Government. 

 
 
 
 
 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i8 Council 240915 SCR Devolution.doc 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
7.   Government will not consider the devolution of resources, freedoms and 

flexibilities below the city region level.  It is therefore imperative, that 
Doncaster proactively engages, and for key themes leads, the development 
of the devolution asks to maximise the impact for Doncaster businesses and 
residents. 

 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES  
 
8.  The devolution deal will provide the foundation from which all of the 

Council’s key outcomes can be supported:  
 

 Outcomes Implications  
 All people in Doncaster benefit 

from a thriving and resilient 
economy. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing 

 Mayoral Priority: Be a strong 
voice for our veterans 

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services 

 

A strong economy is the primary driver 
for the devolution deal.  The thematic 
asks provide the tools to ensure that: 

- Businesses are supported to 
locate, grow and invest 

- Residents can be equipped 
with the skills to enter the 
labour market and lead safe 
healthy and active lives 

- Infrastructure can be delivered 
to facilitate the mobility of 
labour and the growth of 
businesses 

- Strong support services are 
available 

- Decisions are made by the 
local democratically 
accountable Combined 
Authority 

 

 People live safe, healthy, active 
and independent lives. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities   

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living 
 

 People in Doncaster benefit from 
a high quality built and natural 
environment. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing 

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities  

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living 

 All families thrive. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services 

 

 Council services are modern and 
value for money. 

 Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance. 

 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i8 Council 240915 SCR Devolution.doc 

 
 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
9.  The deal potentially represents a significant opportunity for the city region to 

become economically self-sufficient.  However, there will be a number of 
risks and assumptions that will be identified / clarified as the negotiations 
around the “asks” progresses.  At the time of writing the report, this process 
has not fully started.  However, the Chief Executive, Mayor and relevant 
senior officers are supporting the negotiations – leading in some instances – 
and are therefore equipped to respond to risks as they are identified. 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.  The legislation enabling the Devolution proposal is contained within the 

Cities and Local Government Devolution Bill which the Government 
anticipates becoming law during this current Parliament 

 
 The changes proposed by the Sheffield City Region offer will involve making 

changes to the Council’s Constitution which can only be done by a decision 
of Full Council. 

 
 Further specific, bespoke and substantial advice will be required as this 

proposal moves forward including advice upon changes to the Council’s 
Constitution and governance arrangements. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.  There are many asks on the submission that could have financial 

implications for the council, these will need further consideration once the 
implications have been made clearer. One of the proposals is in respect of 
the potential to retain Business Rates locally. The council currently retains 
49% of Business Rates which equates to £44.847m for 2015/16. Further 
information will be need to be considered once proposals are known in more 
detail. 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS  
  
12.  There are no direct HR implications arising from the recommendations in the 

report. Devolution will however require HR engagement in the process at 
the appropriate time, so that there is sufficient focus on HR issues 
particularly in terms of resource deployment, workforce and organisational 
development and building the principles of devolution into current roles and 
ways of working.  

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.  The devolution deal is constructed to support the growth of the city region 

economy.  As such, it has residents and businesses at its heart.  The asks 
provide the mechanisms to respond to the weaknesses intrinsic to the local 
economy and as such will provide greater equality through, for example, 
equipping local residents with the skills to access the labour market, 
facilitating the mobility of labour and supporting new and existing 
businesses to develop and grow. 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i8 Council 240915 SCR Devolution.doc 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
14.  The development of the devolution asks and the process for negotiating the 

deal with Government is being driven by the Mayor, Chief Executive and 
senior officers of the Council.   

 
 This report has no significant implications in terms of the following:- 
 

Procurement  Crime & Disorder  

Human Resources  Human Rights & Equalities  

Buildings, Land and Occupiers  Environment & Sustainability  

ICT  Capital Programme  

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
15.  Additional papers accompanying this report include; 

- Attached is the devolution submission to Government from the Sheffield City 
Region. 

 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Jonathan Bucknall, Policy and Service Improvement Lead 
01302 734547 
jonathan.bucknall@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

Peter Dale 
Director of Regeneration and Environment  





   

  

 

 

 

 

 

An Economic Devolution Deal for  

Sheffield City Region 
Delivering for the Northern Powerhouse



   

Table of contents 
1. Executive Summary ............................................................................................................ 4 

1.1. The scale of our ambitions .......................................................................................... 4 

1.2. Our Proposals .............................................................................................................. 5 

2. Investing in the North and addressing our Productivity Challenge ................................... 7 

2.1. Kickstarting the Northern Powerhouse ...................................................................... 7 

2.2. The business case: a productive SCR means a productive UK .................................... 7 

3. Our devolution proposals .................................................................................................. 9 

3.1. 30 proposals across six themes ................................................................................... 9 

3.2. An integrated 21st Century Transport Network ......................................................... 9 

3.3. Business Growth, Innovation and Exports ................................................................ 10 

3.4. Skills, employment and education ............................................................................ 13 

3.5. Public assets, planning and housing and commercial development ........................ 14 

3.6. Financial settlement .................................................................................................. 17 

3.7. Greater accountability of national programmes to the SCR ..................................... 19 

4. A plan underpinned by a single pot for economic development in the Sheffield City 
Region ...................................................................................................................................... 20 

4.1. A single pot for the Sheffield City Region to drive growth ....................................... 20 

4.2. The key principles of the single pot: ......................................................................... 21 

4.3. Pump priming the single-pot – what would it comprise? ......................................... 22 

4.4. How would the Pot be delivered? ............................................................................. 24 

5. How an SCR Mayoral Combined Authority and Local Enterprise Partnership would 
operate ..................................................................................................................................... 25 

5.1. Utilising our existing arrangements .......................................................................... 25 

5.2. A Mayoral Combined Authority ................................................................................ 26 

5.3. Features of the Mayoral Combined Authority .......................................................... 27 

5.4. Relationship between the Mayor and the Local Enterprise Partnership ................. 28 

5.5. The Geography .......................................................................................................... 29 

6. Public Service Reform ...................................................................................................... 31 



   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Document verification:   

Produced By: Reviewed by:  Approved by: 

FB, AG  Andrew Gates  Ben Still  

 

Version number:   SCR Devolution Ambition Submission  

File location:   N:\SHEFFIELD CITY REGION FOLDER\LEP FOLDER\Economic 
Strategy\SEP Workstreams\J Devolution Deal\2015 Deal\Ambition 
doc\V14\SCR Devolution AmbitionSubmission.docx  

  



   

1. Executive Summary  

1.1. The scale of our ambitions  
Sheffield City Region is the advanced manufacturing, logistics and engineering heart of the 
Northern Powerhouse and is critical to the UK’s future international competitiveness. 

This deal heralds a new settlement for SCR by delivering strong, democratically elected 
leadership for the City Region with the powers and funding to deliver: 70,000 new jobs, 
£3.1bn additional GVA and 6,000 new businesses in partnership with the private sector. 
Sustained private sector growth and increased productivity alongside high-quality, locally-
focused public services will be at the heart of everything the SCR does.  

The Sheffield City Region’s devolution proposals will deliver: 

• A game-changing Single Pot of investment to deliver 70,000 jobs over the next 10 years  
• England’s first fully localised Business Rates model, ending SCR’s dependence on 

Whitehall and rebalancing powers over decision-making to rival those of other 
international competitor cities 

• a long term Housing Investment Fund, so that the City Region can deliver at least 7,000 
new homes a year  

• the potential to re-franchise the bus network with multi-modal smart ticketing creating 
the modern transport network that a big city region needs and expects 

• a single fully localised post-16 vocational skills and careers system with extended 
influence over local education to create a skilled and productive workforce  

• Unlocking business and housing development with the ability to create Development 
Zones and Development Corporations and a suite of powers to unblock obstacles to 
infrastructure development. 

• The UK’s first Advanced Manufacturing Innovation District with a £250m investment in 
world leading R&D and tech transfer to transform and create new industries, catalyse 
supply chains and drive exports 

• Responsibility to create an ‘at work’ City Region – with full devolved responsibility and 
funding to help those who are furthest from the labour market, reducing dependency 
and increasing employment 

• A super-connected City Region with modern, high speed and high quality transport and 
digital infrastructure, creating an economy of global scale and fulfilling its role in the 
Northern Powerhouse. 

 



   

1.2. Our Proposals  
This agreement sets out the powers and budgets with which the SCR will be empowered by 
Government to drive these aspirations, and the commitments which Sheffield City Region 
will deliver to transform the City Region’s economy and its public services. As a result, SCR 
will achieve our productivity potential and make a greater contribution to the national 
economy.  

Our proposals are focused on accelerating the implementation of our Strategic Economic 
Plan (SEP)1 and building upon the powers the City Region has already secured through its 
existing City, Growth and Devolution Deals. It is critical that these previous commitments 
are realised, including the devolution of the Business Growth Service funding from 2017 and 
the £21.6m allocated over the next six years for the SCR’s innovative Skills Bank. 

Our 30 proposals span the following six key themes:  

1. An integrated 21st Century Transport Network with greater intra-city region and pan-
City Region connectivity. 

2. A world leading area for innovation, advanced manufacturing and business growth.  

3. More people learning, earning, in apprenticeships and higher skilled employment in 
the Sheffield City Region. 

4. Better use of publicly owned assets and increased planning capacity and powers to 
double our housing delivery (to 7,000 homes per annum) and increase commercial 
development. 

5. A stable, long term financial settlement that puts the SCR in control of its own 
destiny. 

6. Greater accountability of national programmes to the Sheffield City Region. 

Our first and overarching proposal that spans these themes is the creation of a Sheffield City 
Region single pot. Epitomising the spirit of devolution rather than decentralisation, this will 
enable the Sheffield City Region to control its own destiny to deliver the growth and change 
required.   

The SCR expects that the Government will make appropriate revenue resource allocations, 
or ensure freedoms within funding settlements, to enable effective delivery and programme 
management of devolved funds and responsibilities. 

Our proposals are summarised in table 1 below.  

 

1 Sheffield City Region (2014) Strategic Economic Plan: A focused 10 Year Plan for Private Sector Growth 2015 – 2025, 
http://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/SCR-Growth-Plan-March-2014.pdf  

                                                      

http://sheffieldcityregion.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/SCR-Growth-Plan-March-2014.pdf


   
Table 1: The Sheffield City Region’s devolution proposals  

Accelerating 
the delivery of 
our SEP to 
create:  

• 70,000 new 
jobs, with 
30,000 to be 
in highly 
skilled 
occupations; 

• £3.1bn 
additional 
GVA; and  

• 6,000 new 
businesses.  

A single pot to drive growth  • A multi–year single pot, with no ring-fencing to enable us to deliver our economic growth ambitions (proposal 1)   

1. An integrated 21st century 
transport network  

• Control of the powers and resources for the bus network in SCR – delivering the network a modern metro area expects (proposal 2)  
• A single smart ticketing system for the City Region’s public transport network (proposal 2)  
• The ability to make decisions on major transport schemes in the SCR, including extending the Super Tram network (proposal 2d) 
• SCR responsibility for improving air quality in SCR (proposal 3) 

2. A world leading area for 
innovation, advanced 
manufacturing and business 
growth 

• A single, tailored business support model for SCR with devolved funding & aligned national programmes (proposal 5) 
• Support for the UK’s first Advanced Manufacturing Innovation District including a Light Weighting research facility at the AMRC and in Care2050 

– using advanced manufacturing ideas to transform health and care services (proposal 4) 
• Driving exports and inward investment with UKTI direct accountability to the SCR (proposal 7)  
• Act as a pilot area in the completion of the Government’s new Science and Innovation Audits (proposal 4)  
• 100% ultrafast broadband coverage for all of SCR with devolved DCMS/BDUK resources (proposal 6) 

3. More people learning, 
earning, in apprenticeships and 
higher skilled employment in the 
Sheffield City Region. 

• Establishing an end-to-end post-16 vocational skills system in SCR with fully devolved responsibility and funding for adult skills and co-
commissioning of post-16 programmes to ensure school leavers and employees are equipped with the skills they and our businesses need 
(proposals 10, 11, 12, 15, 17).  

• Power and funding to design and deliver a Careers Service for SCR to get young people and adults the information they need to find high quality 
work and progress in the local economy (proposal 18). 

• The power to shape an education system that puts children and young people in the best position to fulfil their potential with an enhanced local 
curriculum and a single commissioner for schools and Further Education accountable to the SCR (proposal 13 and 14).   

• Full devolution of powers and funding to support those furthest from the work to get back into the labour market, getting people the right 
support they need and reducing the cost of welfare (proposal 19) 

• Co-commissioning the next phase of the Work Programme to deliver an integrated local employment offer for SCR alongside a co-commissioned 
in-work progression pilot (proposal 20) 

4. Better use of publicly owned 
assets and planning powers to 
double housing delivery. 

• Building 7,000 new homes a year through a flexible Housing Investment Fund and by making the best use of all public assets (proposals 21 & 22).  
• The powers to plan for growth and establish Development Corporations and Development Zones to streamline and incentivise major 

development in the City Region (proposals 23 and 24).  
• To further develop and expand our successful Enterprise Zone that has already created 1,100 jobs (proposal 25).  

5. A stable, long term financial 
settlement that puts the SCR in 
control of its own destiny 

• Full localisation of Business Rates and Business Rate growth putting SCR in charge of investing the money raised locally and enabling long-term 
investment in growth (proposal 26a). 

• A payment by results model to enable the City Region to deliver the critical infrastructure it needs to grow (proposal 26b).   
• Review the Housing Revenue Account Borrowing cap to increase public sector delivered / enabled house building (proposal 26g) 
• Precept and Community Infrastructure Levy powers for the SCR (proposal 26C) 
• Intermediate Body Status for SCR – putting SCR in control of its EU Structural Investment Funds (proposal 27). 
• Changes to the Combined Authority legislation to deliver a Sheffield City Region deal (proposal 29) 

6. Greater accountability of 
national programmes to SCR 

• SCR will have formalised call-in powers to challenge Government departments and agencies to ensure national programmes are aligned to local 
ambitions and expectations (proposal 30).  



 

2. Investing in the North and addressing our 
Productivity Challenge  

2.1. Kickstarting the Northern Powerhouse  
The City Regions of the North can and must collaborate more and the SCR will play a full 
part in this. The Northern Powerhouse is a proposition that will seek to enhance 
productivity across the North, covering innovation, skills, trade and investment and 
transport. This will include Government maintaining its commitment to the Northern 
Powerhouse, particularly fast-tracking the delivery of key Northern Powerhouse 
interventions and realising its commitment to HS3 and HS2. The Government must also 
bring together the decision making processes on TransNorth and HS2 to ensure that the full 
economic benefits of both are realised, integrated and maximised across the North, 
transforming east-west and north-south connectivity.  

We also expect the Government to develop spending plans that shift the historic imbalance 
of investment in infrastructure from an overheated South East to one that unlocks growth in 
the North. 

 

2.2. The business case: a productive SCR means a productive UK 
The challenges facing the SCR encapsulate those facing the UK: the SCR economy needs to 
be more productive; it needs more people working in higher skilled, higher income jobs; it 
needs to rebalance its economy towards GVA- and export-driving sectors; it needs to be a 
stronger city region punching its weight as part of a highly interconnected Northern 
economy with Leeds and Manchester; and it needs affordable public services that are more 
effective at enabling people to contribute productively to the economy and share in its 
success. 

It is clear that the SCR economy has turned the corner but challenges remain. The SCR needs 
to deliver private sector led growth to accelerate the realisation of its Strategic Economic 
Plan and play a greater role in the Northern Powerhouse. The main challenges are twofold: 

1. SCR has underused comparative and competitive advantage 

The indigenous business base of 40,000+ SMEs is a critical asset to SCR. We need to fully 
exploit our comparative advantage in advanced manufacturing and engineering to lock-in 
major economic investment and Tier 1 OEMs, building on existing assets and investments 
such as our Advanced Manufacturing Park and the National College for High Speed Rail. This 
will provide the demand to drive innovation, enhance supply chain capacity and create 



 
  

higher skilled jobs, driving demand in vital productivity sectors such as business, 
professional and financial services. By fully exploiting our competitive advantage the SCR 
will be able to maximise its strategic position, capitalising on our 3600, multi-modal 

connectivity including road, rail and Robin Hood Airport Doncaster Sheffield, power and 
land supply.  

2. SCR’s productivity is below the national average (along with other northern economies) 

SCR has a £11.9bn productivity gap – 29% below the national average and the largest gap 
of all ten of the UK Core Cities. 
Recent analysis suggests that around 
£4.8bn of this gap is due to low 
productivity in the SCR economy’s 
sectors, with £1.5bn due to the 
sectoral mix in the economy2. 
Around £2bn of SCR’s productivity 
gap is down to labour market factors, 
particularly lower employment rates 
(£1.3bn) and lower economic activity 
(£600m).  The SCR needs more and 
better private sector jobs and public services that are locally designed to tackle the specific 
challenges SCR faces, reducing our over dependency on low wage low skill employment.  

 

 

2 New Economy Manchester and Core Cities (2015) Understanding Core Cities’ Productivity Gaps   
(NB: numbers do not sum due to differing data sources used in the calculations for the Productivity Gap) 

8 | P a g e  

 

                                                      



 
  

3. Our devolution proposals 
3.1. 30 proposals across six themes 
Our devolution proposals are structured across six themes; all underpinned by the creation 
of a single-pot (section 4). The six themes are: 

1. An integrated 21st Century Transport Network with greater intra-city region and pan-
City Region connectivity. 

2. A world leading area for innovation, advanced manufacturing and business growth.  

3. More people learning, earning, in apprenticeships and higher skilled employment in 
the Sheffield City Region. 

4. Better use of publicly owned assets and increased planning capacity and powers to 
double our housing delivery (to 7,000 homes per annum) and increase commercial 
development.  

5. A stable, long term financial settlement that puts the SCR in control of its own 
destiny. 

6. Greater accountability of national programmes to the Sheffield City Region. 

Our first and overarching proposal (discussed in greater detail in section 4) is to create a 
single pot for the City Region so that it can deliver its growth ambitions in as cost effective 
and flexible way as possible. 

A single pot for the Sheffield City Region to drive growth  

1. The allocation of Government funding to the SCR direct from HMT as a flexible, 
multi-year, single pot, on the basis of jointly developed performance targets.     

 

3.2. An integrated 21st Century Transport Network  

An integrated 21st Century Transport Network with greater intra-city region 
and pan-City Region connectivity 

2. Sheffield City Region will be given the responsibility, freedom and funding to 
design a sustainable, integrated transport network for the City Region that is fully 
aligned to the economic requirements of the area.  This will include:  

a) Devolving the Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG) to the CA for at least 

9 | P a g e  

 



 
  

10 years as part of the Single Pot, allowing the SCR to align this with other 
transport spending, including spending on the statutory concessionary 
travel scheme. 

b) Devolving the funding and powers to control the bus network, including 
the ability to reinvest profits back into the network and deploy the smart 
ticketing solution being developed as part of the Transport for the North 
proposal.  

c) Government underwriting of the risk during transition to the franchise 
model in the forthcoming Bus legislation. 

d) HM Government will devolve to the Sheffield City Region the power to 
extend the existing Supertram network or construct other mass transit 
systems in the City Region. 

e) Government to maintain and realise its commitment to the Northern 
Powerhouse by fast-tracking the delivery of HS3 and HS2, improving east- 
west and north-south connectivity.  

3. Sheffield City Region will be given responsibility for improving air quality in the 
City Region, including devolution of the large number of disparate Government 
funding streams as part of the single pot.  This will include funding from DfT, 
Defra, DH and the Office for Low Emission Vehicles.  The full list of funds is 
included in Table 2 section 4. 

 

3.3. Business Growth, Innovation and Exports  

A world leading area for innovation, advanced manufacturing and business 
growth 

4. Sheffield City Region will strengthen its position as a world leading area for 
innovation and advanced manufacturing, adding significant added value to the 
local and national economy, by having control of the key levers to promote 
business investment in these high value sectors.  

Our priorities include:  

a) The designation of the pioneering ‘Advanced Manufacturing Innovation 
District’, building on our Enterprise Zone, as the UK’s primary location for 
advanced manufacturing. This will include the transfer of the AMP Technology 
Centre, as part of the AMID site from Government ownership to the SCR, 
inclusion within UKTI’s GREAT campaign and exploring University Enterprise 
Zone status for the Innovation District. 

10 | P a g e  

 



 
  

b) £250million commitment to SCR as a national demonstrator for place based 
innovation programmes with LEPs. Government investment will be matched 
by company investment at 50% and further leveraged through local resources 
to deliver a £600 million science and innovation programme over 5 years. The 
following two projects are critical to kick start the AMID and have full business 
cases attached. We expect commitment to deliver a: 

i) A ‘light weighting’ centre – focused on the development of 
manufacturing techniques that will make use of materials with 
exceptional strength to weight properties more cost effective. The 
project will deliver a new 3,800m2 capital build and equipment.  

ii) Care Innovation centre, including Hospital 2050 – this will deliver a step 
change in our CARE2050 programme of activities to deliver on the UK’s 
Long Term Health Revolution. Its primary purpose will be to accelerate 
the development of healthcare products by providing a bridge between 
industry, the university sector and the NHS. The project will attract a 
further private sector and NHS match funding. 

c) The SCR will lead a pilot of the Science and Innovation Audits – this audit will  
build on existing local evidence and it will work with the SCR Innovation Centre 
of excellence (as part of the Growth Hub), BIS and Innovate UK. The audit will: 
help channel innovation spend into our priority sectors; shape the pipeline of 
projects in the SCR place based innovation programme; identify nationally 
relevant programmes to be devolved and design new products to be co-
commissioned. It will also explore a SCR demonstrator programme for the 
Long Term Health Care revolution, with commitment to the Care2050 
programme.  

d) Through the SCR proposal for a single pot for infrastructure funding, we will 
bring forward a series of schemes against the AMID spatial plan (when 
complete in Dec 2015), including the exploration of a mass transit connection 
for the Innovation District.  

5. Businesses operating in Sheffield City Region will have access to high quality, 
tailored and locally appropriate business support through the devolution of 
funding streams to the SCR and alignment with national business support 
products.  This will include: 

a) Confirmation of the long term revenue funding profile for the (previously 
agreed) devolved SCR Business Growth Service and  

b) Agreement of a memorandum of understanding between the SCR and HM 
Government that ensures any new InnovateUK and Business Growth related 
products developed nationally are consistent with and complementary to 
locally developed business support products.   

11 | P a g e  

 



 
  

6. Sheffield City Region to spearhead an expanded roll-out of ultrafast broadband 
across the SCR through: 

1) Confirmation from HMG of any future phases of BDUK investment and 
agreement of funding settlement over a 3 year period  to increase our take up 
of superfast broadband, in line with the Government’s 50% target. 

2) Development with the Sheffield City Region of a reward based model for 
performance against higher level take up objectives and the securing of 
increased private sector levels of investment in infrastructure. 

7. Sheffield City Region to secure direct accountability of UKTI and agreed 
contributions to nationally-led trade missions so that the City Region benefits 
from more locally tailored inward investment and exporting support.  This will 
include oversight of contracted provision, and will ensure that UKTI is fully 
responsive to the opportunities within the Sheffield City Region.  The SCR will 
work directly with UKTI and SCR partners on the development and delivery of a 
joint strategy with joint targets for both inward investment and export activity. 

8. Joint commitment from HMG and SCR to develop an SCR business growth 
intelligence and data centre - which will bring together national and local 
intelligence to drive policy and investment decisions. This will include export 
intelligence data at SCR level to benchmark against and help us identify key export 
markets and to target our promotion activity more effectively. 

9. Permanent devolution of RGF budgets (or equivalent) to the SCR (as part of the 
single pot), weighted in accordance with the usual RGF principles (e.g. deprivation 
/ % public sector employment) enabling HMT to ‘bank’ the savings in 
departmental overheads as a contribution to fiscal consolidation.  

 

12 | P a g e  

 



 
  

3.4. Skills, employment and education  

More people learning, earning, in apprenticeships and higher skilled 
employment in the Sheffield City Region 

10. Sheffield City Region to have fully devolved responsibility, freedom and funding 
for post-19 vocational education. To be deployed through an outcome based 
agreement focusing on progression to work, progression within employment and 
business productivity, helping to create the highly skilled workforce the City 
Region needs for the future.   

11. Sheffield City Region to have joint influence over the use of funding for 16-18 
year olds, co-commissioning programmes with DfE and the Education Funding 
Agency deployed through an outcome based agreement, ensuring the young 
people leave school with the skills they need to make an impact in the City Region 
economy 

12. Sheffield City Region to have full devolution of traineeship funding to SCR, in 
order that SCR can work with businesses and colleges and providers to 
commission funding in order to reduce unfilled apprenticeship vacancies and to 
target programmes which equip learners with the transitional skills to participate 
in an apprenticeship in a priority sector e.g. engineering 

13. Sheffield City Region is seeking to work with BIS and DfE to ensure that there is a 
single Regional Commissioner for schools and FE. The Commissioner having direct 
responsibility and accountability to SCR and DFE for the way schools are inspected 
and judged, the prioritisation and deployment of  bursaries and retention budgets 
and responsibility for a Teaching and Learning Workforce strategy for schools and 
further education that devolves resources and responsibilities of the National 
College to a SCR virtual college. 

14. Sheffield City Region to have the power to enhance the national curriculum for 
local authority controlled secondary schools to ensure that schools are preparing 
young people with the skills they need to succeed in the City Region economy. 
There will be a parallel requirement for Ofsted to inspect and assess schools 
against these enhanced elements, and to report this to SCR on an annual basis. 
Academies and free schools would be encouraged to also include these elements 
in their curricula. 

15. Sheffield City Region ask that Government honour its Growth Deal commitment 
to SCR in devolving £21.6 million over a six year term to deliver the flagship Skills 
Bank programme in order to lever £30 million of private sector investment to 
further invest in skills. 

13 | P a g e  

 



 
  

16. Sheffield City Region ask that DWP commit to co-commissioning an In-Work 
Progression Pilot in SCR, and that SCR is enabled to pilot its Disadvantaged 
Learner Pilot to test an approach to deploying funding flexibly to secure greater 
learning progression outcomes for disadvantaged cohorts. 

17. Sheffield City Region to have fully devolved responsibility and freedom to 
incentivise take up of Apprenticeships. These incentives could include brokerage 
activity and other financial incentives, on the basis that we will do this on a fiscally 
neutral model by driving greater economic return through greater employer take-
up and higher level Apprenticeships in high value sectors. 

18. Sheffield City Region to have fully devolved responsibility, funding and freedom 
to design and commission a Careers Service that provides young people and 
adults with the information they need to make the right decisions to secure high 
quality work in the City Region. This funding (including re-commissioning of 
National Careers Service and national Careers and Enterprise Company funding) 
will be pooled and commissioned at City Region level, with local level service 
delivery and a commitment to leverage investment from the private sector 

19. Sheffield City Region to have fully devolved responsibility and funding for 
programmes targeting those groups of unemployed people who are furthest 
from the labour market/least able to access mainstream provision. This will 
enable the City Region to put in place locally appropriate interventions to support 
these people back to the labour market.  

20. Sheffield City Region to work with DWP to co-design and co-commission support 
to unemployed people who are closer to the labour market, including future 
Work Programme replacements. Whilst remaining a national service, all JCP and 
remaining nationally commissioned employment programmes will form an 
integral part of a local employment offer, focused at supporting people into 
sustainable, high quality work. 

 

3.5. Public assets, planning and housing and commercial 
development 

Better use of publicly owned assets and increased planning capacity and 
powers to double our housing delivery (to 7,000 homes per annum) and 
increase commercial development  

21. The SCR and Government will jointly agree to develop a pioneering approach to 

14 | P a g e  

 



 
  

unlock for development, and make much better use of the totality of public 
assets across the City Region, as part of the One Public Estate programme, to help 
provide the land for homes delivery, support the development of new 
infrastructure to help economic growth, and allow the delivery of better public 
services.  More detail is provided in our initial OPE bid.  This will include a mix of: 

a) The transfer of Government assets into the SCR Combined Authority or its 
constituent members (including the Technology Centre at the AMP to support 
our ‘AMID’) for control or disposal. 

b) A right of ‘first refusal of purchase’ for the SCR within the Sheffield City Region 
on any Government asset disposal programme. 

c) Agreement for a share of benefits secured from the receipts of any HMG 
disposal of Government owned assets within the Sheffield City Region to be 
retained with the SCR for the purpose of driving economic growth and house 
building. These assets include those currently held by the HCA, DWP/JCP, 
Department of Health, Network Rail, Highways England, NHS, MoD; and other 
Public Assets not currently controlled by the HCA. Therefore it is vital that 
relevant Government departments are fully engaged in the SCR assets 
approach, empowered with the mandate to make decisions. 

d) Explore increased opportunities for generating low carbon energy through 
greater utilisation of the public estate, supported by improved energy 
infrastructure for the City Region.  

22. HM Government to devolve to the Sheffield City Region, as part of the single pot 
(see section 3), the key capital grant and loan programmes that currently sit 
within the Housing and Communities Agency and provide long term funding 
certainty. A breakdown of each funding stream is set out in Table 1 section 3.  For 
use within the Housing theme of the Single Pot, HM Government to provide 
funding of £43m between 2016 and 2020 for the delivery of a programme of 
already identified ‘quick win’ housing sites (annex B) where there is a clear 
funding viability gap. 

23. Building on the development of an SCR strategic infrastructure plan the SCR will 
secure the powers to plan for growth and to tackle housing quality issues 
including;  

a) Statutory consultee status on strategic planning applications (defined in 
relation to the strategic infrastructure plan) to ensure that the economic 
benefit to the City Region of applications is being given due prominence and 
weight, helping to ensure that the right development takes place to boost 
economic growth.  

b) Providing powers to produce Supplementary Planning Documents, which all 
City Region authorities with planning powers (except the Peak District National 
Park Authority) would have to give weight to when making planning decisions. 

15 | P a g e  

 



 
  

c) Where planning permission is refused by a constituent local authority or is 
granted contrary to the City Region strategic infrastructure plan, for there to 
be a power of call-in to review the decision. 

d) Devolve to the SCR powers to drive up the standards of private rented sector 
housing by approving Selective Licensing applications (this would only apply 
where the Selective Licensing application covered more than 20% of the stock 
or geographical area of the housing authority) 

24. Give the SCR powers to expedite delivery on strategic sites through:  

a) Powers to create Development Zones in defined areas of the City Region.  
These will have ‘Enterprise Zone’-like powers to speed up land acquisition 
and assembly, infrastructure development, housing, commercial and 
industrial development, and to incentivise jobs growth.  With the approval 
of the SCR, and with the agreement of the Cabinet(s) of the affected local 
authorities, the SCR may also establish Development Corporations, which 
can be designated with some or all of the following powers: 

b) Offer up to 100% business rate discounts to new developments for a fixed 
period; 

c) Ability to award Enhanced Capital Allowances on a case by case basis 
within the agreed Treasury threshold; 

d) Ability to develop a single masterplan for a DC area; 

e) Ability to assume planning powers for the DC area, and to vary planning 
fees; and  

f) Compulsory Purchase Order powers. 

25. Further development of the Sheffield City Region EZ offer. Particularly (and 
reflecting our bids into the CLG EZ ‘competition’): 

a) An extension of the Markham Vale Enterprise Zone to incorporate 31ha of 
the ex-Coalite coking works located adjacent to the existing Enterprise 
Zone at Buttermilk Lane Bolsover. The new Enterprise Zone will focus on 
smaller start-up units and incubator units to larger manufacturing and 
distribution facilities building on the existing logistics industry existing at 
Markham Vale. 

b) A new Enterprise Zone of up to 54ha at Carcroft Common in the rural 
north of Doncaster, in close proximity to the thriving A1(M) Business Park 
at Red House and Carcroft Industrial Estate next to the A19. The sector 
focus will be low carbon and manufacturing sectors. 

c) Confirmation of the permanent extension of the current temporary 60ha 
extension granted to the EZ and confirmation of the SCR’s ability to retain 
business rates generated on this 60ha extension. 

16 | P a g e  

 



 
  

d) Freedom for the SCR to award Enhanced Capital Allowances on a case by 
case basis within the agreed Treasury threshold (the ‘movable pot to a 
limit’ model as opposed to tying the ECAs to particular sites) and a review 
of the mix of rate relief and ECA offer to the SCR EZs on the basis of take-
up to date. 

e) Enter into discussions with the SCR on the development of EZs focused 
around some of the SCRs rural areas – that recognise the different 
requirements and flexibilities necessary to deliver growth in rural areas. 

 

3.6. Financial settlement  

A stable, long term financial settlement that puts the SCR in control of its own 
destiny 

26. To secure sustainable finances and long-term certainty to support economic 
growth the SCR has an ambitious set of financial proposals that incentivise 
economic growth. By securing these proposals the SCR will be able to create a 
multi-year flexible budget that enables long term financial investment. The 
proposals are: 

a) Empower SCR to be more self-sufficient with examination of full 
localisation of Business Rates and Business Rate growth. Full control of 
business rates would incentivise and empower SCR to invest in the long-
term prosperity of our economy and drive the reform of public services, 
complementing our Single Pot and pioneering a radical approach to place 
budgeting.  

b) An agreement to provide the SCR with an allocation of £25m p/a capital 
funds on a Payment by Results model. The Government will support the 
establishment of a Single Pot with the upfront payment of £100m based on 
activity underway within the existing SCR Investment Fund (see chapter 4). 
This will drive the delivery of infrastructure investment needed to drive 
growth, as defined through our Integrated Infrastructure Plan.  

c) The SCR will have the power to introduce a Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) that can require contributions from certain size and type of 
developments within the region.  Any revenue from CIL will be invested as 
part of the single pot and used to fund infrastructure that supports the 
economic growth of the City Region; 

d) An upfront payment to SCR councils of New Homes Bonus (NHB) for new 
properties; 

e) Enabling the City Region to retain Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) revenues 

17 | P a g e  

 



 
  

and freedoms to enable the SCR to target SDLT relief/discounts at key 
housing development sites where viability is low;  

f) Freedom to remove the cap on Council Tax increases to support the 
delivery of economic growth projects; 

g) A review of the Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap in the SCR with 
the cap being linked to any uprating of the value of the asset base rather 
than a fixed value in order to increase the volume of public sector 
delivered/enabled house building; 

h) Deregulation of planning fees and charges to enable members of the SCR 
Combined Authority to vary the fees and charges that councils apply and to 
vary how revenue from these is invested, such as the fast-tracking of 
planning developments and premium planning services; 

i) Fully devolved decision making over Council Tax discounts to SCR councils 
to support housing growth and enhance local self-sustainability; 

j) Powers to require landlords who own student premises converted from 
business premises in a defined city centre geography to pay Business 
Rates. 

27. The Sheffield City Region to take responsibility for European Structural and 
Investment Funds through the extension to the Sheffield City Region of 
Intermediate Body status (limited to the selection of activities) for the whole of 
the SCR allocation of the 2014/20 European Structural and Investment Funds 
programme (ESIF). 

28. Priority access to any under-spend in national investment programmes, such as 
the Local Growth Fund, to deliver our £70m prioritised pipeline of 15 
infrastructure schemes in the City Region that have already been appraised and 
which could deliver between 2015 and 2018. 

29 In the spirit of localism and to enable the SCR’s Combined Authority to reflect real 
economic geography – we request that the Cities and Local Government 
Devolution Bill is amended so as to: 

a) remove or amend s.103(5) of the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009 so as to enable a lower-tier 
authority to be a constituent member of more than one Combined 
Authority where this better reflects functional economic geography. 

b) remove s.109(5)(a) of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 
Construction Act 2009. 3 This would enable lower-tier authorities to 
“upgrade” their membership from non-constituent to constituent 
members of the SCR CA should they wish to do so. 

 

18 | P a g e  

 



 
  

3.7. Greater accountability of national programmes to the SCR 

Greater accountability of national programmes to the Sheffield City Region 

30. The SCR will have formalised powers to call-in Government Departments, Non-
Departmental Public Bodies and funding agencies to ensure that national 
provision is aligned to the City Region’s bold and ambitious plans for economic 
growth; to challenge if this is not happening and to support delivery with local 
integration. The agencies / bodies included in this are parts of Government which 
have the greatest role to play in supporting our economic ambitions: 

- The Schools Commissioner; 
- The Further Education Commissioner; 
- Chief Executive of the Skills Funding Agency and Education Funding 

Agency; 
- OFSTED; 
- DEFRA; 
- Environment Agency; 
- Department for Education; 
- Network Rail / Highways England / Transport for the North / DfT / HS2 

Ltd; 
- The Homes and Communities Agency; 
- HM Treasury; 
- The Planning Inspectorate; 
- Department for Work and Pensions and contracted providers delivering 

employment programmes; and  
- BIS / Innovate UK/ UKTI. 

The SCR will also have the power to establish specific ‘SCR Commissions’ to be 
supported by Government Departments to develop ‘whole-system’ solutions to 
intractable problems. 

In addition, we want to develop with Government a parallel programme of Public Service 
Reform that will contribute to a more productive and prosperous SCR, underpinned by a 
sustainable public sector.  

19 | P a g e  

 



 
  

4. A plan underpinned by a single pot for 
economic development in the Sheffield City 
Region 

4.1. A single pot for the Sheffield City Region to drive growth  
Delivering the outcomes of our ambitous SEP will be dependent on the SCR’s ability to 
control and invest in its own economic future. This requires a single budget and the powers 
set out in the preceding section. Effectively this translates into a multi-year, un-ringfenced 
dedicated Sheffield City Region single pot, free from departmental constraints and with full 
flexibility.  

Through the Sheffield City Region Investment Fund (SCRIF) we have already demonstrated 
our competence at prioritisation across our geography through our focus on delivering the 
best projects to secure economic growth and private sector investment through utilisation 
of Local Growth Fund and European monies. This has been achieved by developing 
consensus between the nine local authorities and strong private sector commercial input.  

Our expectation is that the SCR will control a pot that builds on the approach to date, is 
long-term in nature and ultimately sustained by the proceeds of economic growth from 
within the Sheffield City Region. This will represent a natural evolution from the flexibilities 
agreed between the City Region and Government through its existing City, Growth and 
Devolution Deals and specifically: 

• The ability to spend devolved Department for Transport major investment on wider 
(non-transport) infrastructure schemes, as part of our SCRIF programme, secured in our 
City Deal;  

• The maximum level of flexibility on our Local Growth Fund allocation whereby the SCR 
only has to notify, rather than agree, any changes to its investment profile with 
Government as agreed in our Growth Deal; and 

• The flexibility to deliver local priorities by agreeing a capital revenue swop through our 
Devolution Deal.  

The operation of the single pot, and the flexibilities inherent within it, will enable the SCR to 
plan and then deliver: 

a) major future infrastructure programmes across transport, housing and innovation assets 
through more effective phasing of investment, provision of long-term certainty and the 
development of packages of finance investment that leverage private sector investment. 
This will be driven by our emerging Integrated Infrastructure Plan.  

20 | P a g e  

 



 
  

b) revenue programmes, specifically an end-to-end employment and skills system, business 
growth programmes, and sustainable transport programmes with alignment driven by a 
focus on outcomes. 

The SCR will direct the allocation of funding within the single pot within a jointly agreed 
outcomes framework. 

 

4.2. The key principles of the single pot: 
a) It is developed in agreement with HMT rather than individual Departments and that the 

SCR secures a single line in the Spending Review and future Budgets. We anticipate that 
in the first instance particular and appropriate departmental budgets will be identified 
for inclusion in the SCR single pot. We set out what some of these are in the table below. 

b) It is focused purely on the delivery of economic growth, including inward investment, 
infrastructure, capital and revenue funding for innovation, exports / trade promotion, 
business growth and skills and employment activity. 

c) It will be capable of being matched with international / European funding streams and 
will include as much recyclable investment vehicles within it (for example our current 
JESSICA fund). 

d) It has no departmental ring-fencing attached – with departmental influence exercised 
via the agreement of outcome targets rather than piecemeal reporting of outputs and 
expenditure. 

e) It is long-term in nature, and by that we mean over the course of more than one 
Parliament. 

f) It can be used to build packages of funding to deliver major schemes with the ability to 
phase investment in line with operational delivery. 

g) It does not preclude our eligibility to bid for existing or future competitive funds that 
the Government may create in the future. 

h) That it operates on the presumption that future funds and awards would accrue into this 
pot.    

i) It encompasses both capital and revenue and includes some freedom to capitalise 
programme spend to generate revenue to support development costs as well as other 
business growth revenue schemes. 

 

21 | P a g e  

 



 
  

4.3. Pump priming the single-pot – what would it comprise?  
The composition of the single pot will require considerable design and development 
between the Sheffield City Region and Government. We expect that Government will 
support the initial sustainability of the SCR single pot through the allocation of £25m p/a 
capital funds on a Payment by Results model - with funding tied to the delivery of the 
outputs of our existing SCR Investment Fund, already secured through our Growth Deal, and 
those of future packages from our pioneering Integrated Infrastructure Plan (IIP). This IIP 
defines a series of critical infrastructure investments and underpins future investment via 
the single pot in schemes spanning housing, transport and utilities.  

30,000 of the SCR’s proposed jobs growth are in seven key areas within the SCR, including 
the Advanced Manufacturing Innovation District (AMID), Sheffield City Centre, Barnsley 
Town Centre and the Airport Logistics Hub. 

The Government will support the establishment of a Single Pot with the upfront payment of 
a Payment by Results of £100m based on activity underway within the existing SCR 
Investment Fund.  

We expect the single pot to be comprised of funding currently allocated to Government 
departments and their delivery agencies. These are set out in Table 2 below.  

The single pot will also be supported by receipts from asset disposal, revenues generated 
through localised business rates and SCR investment in income-generating schemes and 
other non-capital funding streams which includes the potential for some DWP activity 
targeting the unemployed, BIS vocational education skills funding and careers services.  It 
will be deployed according to need, and not allocated pro-rata between partners.  

Table 2 – the proposed national funding elements of an SCR single pot 

Source of funding Funding stream / programme / project 

Department for 
Transport 

- Local Sustainable Transport Fund (capital and revenue) 
- Local Transport Plan Integrated Transport Block (ITB)  
- Bus Operator Service Grant 
- HS2 Connectivity Funding 
- Cycle Ambition Grant 
- Highway Maintenance Challenge Fund 
- Better Bus Area Fund 
- Clean Vehicle Technology Fund (CVTF) (formerly Clean Bus 

Technology Fund - CBTF) 
- Low Carbon Vehicle Payment 

Department for 
Business Innovation 

- Business Growth Service funding 
- Adult Skills Budget (including Adult Community Learning and 

22 | P a g e  

 



 
  

and Skills Apprenticeships Funding) 
- FE/Skills Capital 
- RGF or successor 
- National Careers Service funding (and other national contributions 

to this service from departments such as DfE, Ministry of Justice 
and DwP) 

- Resources targeting capital and revenue innovation projects 

Department for 
Work and Pensions 

To be determined subject to detailed discussions with HMT and 
DWP. 

Department for 
Communities and 
Local Government 

Homes and Communities Agency capital and investment    
programme which would include: 

- An SCR allocation of the Large Sites Infrastructure Fund 
- An SCR allocation of the Local Infrastructure Fund  
- Build to Rent 
- Builders Finance Fund 
- Elements of the Affordable Homes Programme 2015 – 2018 
- Care & Support  
- Custom Build 
- Homelessness Change 

To include an initial allocation of £43m to deliver a programme of 
identified ‘quick win’ housing sites where there is a clear funding 
viability gap. 

HMT / CLG Funding to support the creation of a Sheffield City Region Housing 
Investment Fund (on a non-fully recoverable basis) to expedite the 
delivery of housing growth on unviable sites.  

Office for Low 
Emission Vehicles 
(OLEV) 

• Low Emission Bus Fund (LEB) 
• Consumer Grant Scheme to support ULEVs 
• Cities Bid 
• Taxis Fund 
• Gas Refuelling Infrastructure Fund 
• Hydrogen Refuelling Infrastructure Fund 

DEFRA • Air Quality Grant 

Department for 
Culture, Media and 

• BroadbandUK allocations 

23 | P a g e  

 



 
  

Sport (DCMS) 

Department for 
Education  

• National Careers Company 

 

4.4.  How would the Pot be delivered?  
It is envisaged that the Sheffield City Region would receive a long term allocation to our 
Single Pot, encapsulated in a single line in the Spending Review. As set out in the preceding 
section this would be negotiated and agreed with HMT rather than individual departments. 
Based on this total allocation the City Region would determine how this would be phased 
across the spending period.  

Building upon the approach currently used for our Local Growth Fund allocation, this would 
subsequently be paid to the City Region annually, upfront in advance as two Section 31 
grants, for the capital and resource elements respectively.    

The SCR would then utilise its governance arrangements to deliver this investment. Its 
success in delivering this investment would be monitored and evaluated against a set of 
mutually developed and agreed targets between the City Region and HMT.  

24 | P a g e  

 



 

5. How an SCR Mayoral Combined Authority 
and Local Enterprise Partnership would 
operate 

5.1. Utilising our existing arrangements  
The SCR has been at the forefront of developing strong, stable governance structures which: 

• combine the ‘best of’ the public and private sector; 
• cut-across old administrative boundaries and reflect the ‘real’ economy of the SCR; 
• reflect a real partnership between the public and private sector – with the LEP private 

sector ‘hardwired’ into decision making – an arrangement unique to SCR; and   
• lay the foundations for a new constitutional settlement with Central Government.  

The SCR LEP was part of the first ‘wave’ of LEPs established in 2010 – and has been one of 
the strongest performing LEPs thereafter. 

In April 2013, we made the case to Government that we had “outgrown” our existing 
informal structures. We felt that the “time was right… to put into legislation that which we 
have been doing by consent for some time”.3 The SCR was the first area under the coalition 
government to submit plans to form a Combined Authority (‘CA’) – and our CA was 
established in April 2014.   

In recent months the SCR has taken further steps to strengthen these governance 
arrangements by formally establishing five Executive Boards that have delegated decisions 
making powers from the CA. The Boards hardwire the collaboration between the public and 
private sectors in the decision making process to deliver the vision of our SEP.  

The Sheffield City Region is clear that their agreed geography for devolution is the City 
Region. Our first preference would be for a deal based on our Combined Authority that 
utilises our revised governance arrangements that have recently been put in place, 
without the need for a metro mayor. These arrangements provide accountability whilst 
also making decisions efficiently and effectively.  

 

3 Sheffield City Region Governance Review: April 2013. 

                                                      



 
  

5.2. A Mayoral Combined Authority 
However, we understand that the Government’s position is predicated on any further 
devolution of powers requiring the adoption of an elected metro mayor model. As such, our 
second preference would be for a Mayor of the Sheffield City Region. At a minimum this 
would require two amendments to the Cities and Local Government Devolution Bill to make 
this possible. Specifically the SCR is proposing the following two changes to (proposal 29):  

• remove or amend s.103(5) of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 
Construction Act 2009 so as to enable a lower-tier authority to be a constituent member 
of more than one Combined Authority where this better reflects functional economic 
geography. 

• remove s.109(5)(a) of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 
Act 2009. This would enable lower-tier authorities to “upgrade” their membership from 
non-constituent to constituent members of the SCR CA should they wish to do so. 

Given that there is a current legislative window to make amendments, we believe these 
changes would unlock an approach to governance that can work not just in the SCR, but in 
other areas around the country where authorities are being constrained from playing a full 
part in partnerships that match their functional economic geography.  If it is not possible to 
make legislative changes to allow this, then we would still wish to find a solution that can 
work for the whole of the City Region. 

Such a solution could be a Mayor whose constituent authorities are South Yorkshire and 
like the current CA has a power of competence on economic matters across the City 
Region. Such a model means it is imperative for the CA and Mayor to make decisions 
together, as accountability is exercised through the CA. We therefore consider this to be a 
Mayoral CA Model, where the Mayor would act as the Chair of the CA. The Mayor would 
also be on the LEP (which would require an additional private sector member to be 
appointed).  

In order for the Mayoral CA to operate effectively it will be critical that the existing 50/50 
funding split for the five districts with D2N2 is maintained and continued for the model to 
operate successfully.    

26 | P a g e  

 



 
  

 

5.3. Features of the Mayoral Combined Authority  
As a starting point, a metro mayor would have power/responsibilities for: economic 
development, transport and housing/infrastructure. Our expectation is that the Mayor 
would operate within the current support structure for the CA and LEP, for example, the 
Mayor would not have a separate accountable body structure or office support function.  

We propose that Mayoral Combined Authority and LEP would comprise: 

• The Mayor is chair of the SCR Combined Authority; 
• That the Mayor’s Cabinet would comprise the CA and the (Chair of the LEP);  
• The Mayor would be a member of the LEP, alongside members of the CA; 
• The Mayoral CA would have responsibilities which include: 

o setting an annual budget for SCR-level activity;  
o approval of high-level plans or strategic (i.e. the SEP and its successor(s)) / 

medium term financial strategy; 
o preparation of an annual report.  

• The Mayoral CA would have powers including: 
o levying /  borrowing powers; 
o general power of competence; 
o planning powers; 
o power to establish mayoral development corporation; 
o other specific functions as part of the negotiated devolution settlement; 
o the power to appoint deputy mayor(s) / other members of the Mayor’s Cabinet;  
o to make executive decisions on behalf of the SCR. 

The Mayoral CA would be responsible for the operation of: 

• the PTE/ Transport for SCR (including powers to commission the bus network – Bus 
Bill4);  

• Joint Assets Board; and  
• Other e.g. SCR Executive (the officer body for the CA/LEP – in conjunction with the LEP 

Chair). 
Under this model the Mayor’s Cabinet would be the members of the CA who would include 
the Chair of the LEP. The role of the members of the CA would include the ability to: 

• “veto” the budget and / or major strategies (e.g. 2/3 majority); 

4 The Bus Bill is yet to be published but features in the Government’s legislative agenda for the Parliament. The Bill will “provide the option 
for combined authority areas with directly elected Mayors to be responsible for the running of their local bus services”. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430149/QS_lobby_pack_FINAL_NEW_2.pdf  

27 | P a g e  

 

                                                      

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430149/QS_lobby_pack_FINAL_NEW_2.pdf


 
  

• scrutinise mayoral decisions (including formal scrutiny and / or mayoral “question time” 
– with public access); and 

• undertake delegated functions ie functions delegated from the Mayor to them as 
members of the Cabinet either collectively or individually.   
 

Our CA model has already “locked in” the role of the private sector in SCR-level decision 
making. Accordingly, under this model, the role of the LEP would be: 

• to be a member of the Mayor’s cabinet (Chair of the LEP); 
• to coordinate and focus the voice, influence and perspective of the private sector;  
• to continue to actively lead certain initiatives on behalf of the Mayor / CA (bringing 

relevant skills and experience to ensure the ‘commerciality’ of SCR-level decisions; 
• to provide the forum for debate on strategic economic issues between the private and 

public sector and Mayor.      

We also strongly support the ‘devolution principle’ set out in Section 2 of the Cities and 
Local Government Devolution Bill. 

 

5.4. Relationship between the Mayor and the Local Enterprise 
Partnership 

There is a risk that in some Mayoral models, the private sector voice is reduced to that of an 
advisory or consultative function. The Sheffield City Region Combined Authority and the 
Local Enterprise Partnership have worked hard to ensure that this did not happen in the 
SCR. The development of our economic policy and strategy, the strategic allocation of 
resources and the accountability of commissioned activity, and that of other stakeholders, 
has private sector engagement locked in. This has been achieved through a delegated board 
structure and it is expected that the will fit into and adopt this structure and delegation of 
powers. It is not expected that the mayoral model proposed will lessen the role of the LEP 
and the private sector. 

Without private sector challenge and focus, SCR’s economic strategy, plans and the strong 
partnership arrangements would not succeed. 

 

28 | P a g e  

 



 
  

5.5. The Geography 
The nine local authorities that make up the Sheffield City Region (SCR) have a long history of 
collaboration at a scale that reflects the natural economic geography of the region (see 
figure 1). This collaboration dates back to the 2007 SCR Forum, which evolved into the SCR 
LEP in 2010 and, latterly, the LEP working in partnership with a CA from 2014.  

Figure 1 – the SCR 

 

All significant economic activity operates on a “City Region by default” basis – and have 
numerous schemes and initiatives that have been highly successful over this footprint. This 
footprint reflects economic reality e.g. that every morning ~21,000 people commute 
between Sheffield and the districts of Chesterfield, Bolsover and North East Derbyshire.       

However, not all functions need to be delivered at the city region scale. It is recognised that 
collaboration with other LEPs and the development of the Northern Powerhouse concept 
will play an increasing part in our activities. The SCR already collaborates on a:  

• ‘Northern’ footprint e.g. Transport for the North / the Northern Powerhouse;  
• Yorkshire and Humber footprint e.g. the creation of a new JEREMIE fund; 
• With individual LEPs e.g. with Leeds City Region on inward investment into Yorkshire and 

in particular sectors such as healthcare. 
 
However, it is also important to note that many functions are best delivered on a LA or even 
ward-level e.g. public sector reform / or specific initiatives in relation to ‘troubled families’. 

29 | P a g e  

 



 
  

For such functions the practicalities of delivery rather than labour market patterns are the 
most appropriate factors to consider.  

The Cities and Local Government Devolution Bill 2015 is the key piece of enabling legislation 
but one size cannot fit all city regions. 

To deliver a Mayoral Combined Authority specifically for the Sheffield City Region the 
legislation and Government policy must enable: 

• An SCR Mayor to be able to act across the ‘real’ economic geography;  
• An appropriate level of democratic accountability across this footprint; 
• The five SCR District Councils to self-determine how and where functions are delivered.   

With the five Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire districts that sit in an overlapping geography 
with the D2N2 LEP / Counties there is a clear need for joint-working and collaboration 
across local and national government on the design of a model that works. 

On that basis, the SCR CA is committed to working with the D2 and N2 Counties to co-design 
a structural solution that works within the emerging statutory framework of the Cities and 
Local Government Bill, enables delivery of SCR’s economic ambitions, and optimises the 
economic potential and performance of the 5 districts that make up the overlapping 
geography. 

30 | P a g e  

 



 
  

6. Public Service Reform  
We know that high quality public services need sustainable economies to finance them and 
good public services enable people to be productive and prosperous. It is a virtuous circle. 
Public spending in the SCR is around £15.1bn a year but we only generate around £8.8bn in 
tax revenue. We want to change this by designing and delivering – which includes working 
on a programme of public service reform that cuts through the organisational and 
departmental barriers which fragment service delivery, confuses service users, reduces 
efficiencies and compromises positive outcomes.  

The Government have raised with us the inclusion of proposals on public sector reform 
(PSR) within this document. In a challenging climate of continued public spending reductions 
the local authorities in the City Region are keen to consider how by working with 
Government we can strengthen the work on PSR undertaken to date and deliver meaningful 
and scalable change.  

Local authorities in the SCR will develop public service reform with Government based on 
innovative approaches that incentivise local engagement and enable each member of the 
CA to design and be involved in the PSR agenda in line with their key challenges and 
opportunities for their ‘place’. This could include the creation of a Public Service Reform 
Transformation Fund. This fund could be sized based on a percentage of ‘investment under 
influence’ per annum.  So, for example, if the percentage level is set at 1%, and we are 
influencing the total ~£15 billion of public money spent in the City Region, the fund would 
be sized at £150 million per annum.  

We recognise the importance of Public Service Reform. This should be taken forward in 
parallel with, but not necessarily connected to, the current economic devolution mayoral CA 
deal. It is expected that any Public Service Reform deal would be with the Combined 
Authority.    

 

 

 

31 | P a g e  

 





 
 

Agenda Item No: 9 
24th September, 2015 

 
 

To the Chair and Members of the COUNCIL 
 
APPOINTMENT OF A MEMBER AND A VICE CHAIR OF THE OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. This report seeks a nomination for a replacement Member to the 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee (OSMC) and a 
nomination for a Member to serve as the Vice-Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee (OSMC) as a consequence of the 
former Vice-Chair, Councillor Nightingale, being appointed as a Cabinet 
Member. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2. That the Council determines:- 
 

 The appointment of a Member to serve on the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee as a replacement for 
Councillor Jane Nightingale; 

 The appointment of a Vice-Chair to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee. 

 Any appointment(s) to the standing Overview and Scrutiny 
Panels that may arise from the above appointment.  
 

 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
3. The Council has a legal requirement to appoint a Chair and Vice-chair to 

all of its Committees.  Ensuring that appointments are made to Council 
Committees will help ensure they operate effectively and support high 
standards of governance.   

 
BACKGROUND 
 
4. At the Annual Meeting of Council, appointments are made to the 

membership and Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Committees and Sub-
Committees of the Council, including Overview and Scrutiny Panels, for 
the ensuing Municipal Year.   
 

5. Councillor Nightingale was appointed as the Vice Chair of OSMC at the 
Annual Meeting of Council on 22nd May 2015 but has subsequently been 
appointed as a Member of the Mayor’s Cabinet with effect from 1st 
September 2015.  As a member of the Executive is not eligible to serve 
as a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Panel this has 
resulted in a vacancy on the OSMC.  



 

6. When Council established the membership of OSMC and the standing 
Panels at its Annual meeting on 22nd May 2015 it disapplied 
proportionality to encourage greater cross party participation. Currently 
the political make up of the OSMC is 4 Labour Members, 2 Conservative, 
1 Independent and 1 vacancy. In seeking a replacement for this vacancy 
Council may therefore consider nominations from any political Group.  
 

7.  Council is also asked to note that if a Member who currently serves on an 
Overview and Scrutiny standing Panel is elected to this vacancy they 
may choose to carry out both roles. Alternatively they may vacate their 
position on the Panel in which case Council will also need to consider an 
appointment to the Panel vacancy. 
 

8.   Council is also asked to determine the appointment of a replacement 
Vice-Chair of the Committee for the remaining period of the current 
municipal year commencing from 24th September, 2015. 

 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 

9.  Option 1 - To appoint a replacement Member to the OSMC and to 
appoint a replacement Vice Chair of the Committee. 
Option 2 – Not to make these appointments. 

 
REASON FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
10.  To ensure the Council has effective governance arrangements in place 

and the OSMC can operate effectively it is recommended that Council 
make the appointments as detailed in Option 1 above. 

 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
  

 Outcomes Implications  
 All people in Doncaster benefit 

from a thriving and resilient 
economy. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing 

 Mayoral Priority: Be a strong 
voice for our veterans 

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services 

 

 

 People live safe, healthy, active 
and independent lives. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities   

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 

 



down the cost of living 
 

 People in Doncaster benefit from 
a high quality built and natural 
environment. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing 

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities  

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living 

 

 

 All families thrive. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services 

 

 

 Council services are modern and 
value for money. 
 

 

 Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance. 
 

Ensuring the membership and Vice 
Chair of OSMC are appointed will help 
ensure the Committee operates 
effectively and supports strong 
leadership and governance. 
Committee is  

 
 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
11. Failure to appoint a replacement Member and Vice Chair may lead to a 

weakening of current governance arrangements. Ensuring the Overview 
and Scrutiny function is fully represented and there is a consistency of 
chairing and management of the Committee by a Chair and Vice Chair 
appointed by Council will help support good governance and effective 
decision making. 

  
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
12. Sections 15, 16 and 17 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

(as amended) sets out the duties of the Local Authority and the allocation 
of seats to political groups on Committees to ensure political balance. 

 
13. The cumulative effect of these duties is to require “proportionality” across 

the formal activities of the Authority, representing the overall political 
composition of the Authority, so that there can for example, be no one 
party Committees so far as they are constituted as formal Committees or 
Sub-Committees of the Council. 

 
14. The Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 

1990, provide the mechanism by which the wishes of Political Groups are 
to be ascertained. 



 
 
15. Exceptions to these requirements of political balance may be made 

where arrangements are approved by the Council without any Member of 
the Council or a Committee, voting against them. Council agreed at its 
Annual Meeting on 22nd May 2015 that it would disapply proportionality 
on OSMC and the Overview and Scrutiny Panels. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
16. The Members’ Allowances Scheme makes provision for Special 

Responsibility Allowances to be paid to the Vice-Chair of the OSMC 
which is currently £3030 per annum. 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
17. There are no human resource implications associated with this report. 
 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
18. There are no technology implications associated with this report.   
 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
19. There are no specific equality implications arising from this report. 
 
CONSULATION 
 
20. Mayor Ros Jones and Group Leaders have been consulted in respect of 

these appointments. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
Reports to Annual Council 22nd May 2015  
 

 Local Government And Housing Act 1989 - Review Of The Allocation Of Seats On 
Committees And Sub-Committees. 

 Appointment Of Chairs And Vice-Chairs Of Committees And Sub-Committees 
 
REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTRIBUTOR 
 
Andrew Sercombe, Governance & Member Services Manager 
Tel 01302 734354 Email Andrew.sercombe@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
Christine Rothwell, Senior Governance Officer 
Tel: 01302 736712 Email:  christine.rothwell@doncaster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
Roger Harvey 

Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i10 Council 240915 Audio Visual Recording of Council.doc 

 
                    
 

 
Corporate Report Format 
 
 
 
To the Chair and Members of the  
Council  
 
AUDIO VISUAL RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS – UPDATE REPORT 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. This report provides an update to Council on arrangements for the audio 

visual recording of future Council meetings. 
 
EXEMPT REPORT 
 
2. This report is not exempt. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3. That Council note:- 
 

i. The current position in respect of arrangements for the audio visual 
recording of Council meetings; and 
 

ii. The implementation date of 24th November 2015 for the audio visual 
recording of future Council meetings. 

 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
4. Recording Council meetings will offer the citizens of Doncaster an 

accessible resource and allow them to view proceedings even if they are 
unable to attend in person. It allows the Council an opportunity to 
demonstrate openness, transparency and accountability to the residents of 
Doncaster. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
5. At its meeting on 22nd May 2015 Council agreed to progress with 

arrangements for the audio visual recording of Council meetings. Following  
this meeting further discussions have taken place with the current provider 
of the Council’s Chamber Voting and Conference system Nuway Audio  
Visual regarding installation of the equipment and training to meet the 
Council’s requirements and this will take place during October.  

 
6. Further consideration has also been given to the process of publishing the 

recordings once they have been captured digitally. The most cost effective 
option at this time appears to be publishing on the Council’s website and 
uploading the recordings to the Council’s YouTube channel. As agreed at 

Agenda Item No: 10 
24th September 2015                                



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i10 Council 240915 Audio Visual Recording of Council.doc 

Council  recordings will be published without any editing so that they can 
reflect a true record of the meeting. However, there may be an occasional 
need to provide some editing e.g. if exempt information was inadvertently 
released. Discussions with other authorities have indicated that these 
occasions are very rare. 

 
7. Once the equipment has been procured and installed training will be 

undertaken by officers on use of the equipment and the process for 
downloading recordings to the Youtube Channel. Liaison will also take place 
with political groups prior to implementation to enable them to consider 
issues around conduct and the implications of being filmed. 

 
8. It is anticipated that the necessary arrangements will be in place for the 26th 

November Council meeting. 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
9. Council considered the options for filming and broadcasting Council 

meetings on 22nd May 2015 including webcasting and audio visual 
recordings. 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
10. Council agreed that recording Council meetings and making the recordings 

available for viewing is an important initiative which will increase 
transparency and potentially increase public participation in local 
democracy. As there is no legal requirement to live broadcast Council 
meetings, Council agreed to provide audio visual recordings of meetings 
which would be available after Council meetings. This would enable 
consideration to be given to the benefits and value before consideration was 
given to the live webcasting of Council meetings, which is a more expensive 
option.  

 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
11. This is an update report however, the issue of providing an audio visual 

recording of Council meetings is likely to have greatest impact on “Working 
with our partners we will provide strong leadership and governance”. 

 
 

 Outcomes Implications  
 All people in Doncaster benefit 

from a thriving and resilient 
economy. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing 

 Mayoral Priority: Be a strong 
voice for our veterans 

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services 

 

 

 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i10 Council 240915 Audio Visual Recording of Council.doc 

 People live safe, healthy, active 
and independent lives. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities   

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living 
 

 

 People in Doncaster benefit from 
a high quality built and natural 
environment. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing 

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities  

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living 

 

 

 All families thrive. 
 

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services 

 

 

 Council services are modern and 
value for money. 
 

 

 Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance. 
 

Providing audio visual recordings of 
Council meetings will improve 
openness and transparency and 
contribute to improved governance 
arrangements. 

 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
12. To ensure there is an awareness that any meetings are to be recorded 

notification will be included as part of the relevant agendas. The Chair will 
also inform attendees at the start of the meeting that all or part of the 
meeting will be recorded. Elected Members and the public will be advised 
that by entering the Chamber they are consenting to being filmed and that 
those images and sound recordings may be made available on the 
Council’s web site and /or for training purposes.  

 
13. Members may need to be mindful of their conduct and behaviour whilst 

recording is taking place and how this may be perceived by members of 
the public viewing the proceedings.  Liaison will take place with political 
groups prior to any recordings to remind identify some issues for Members 
to take account of whilst being filmed.  

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
14. The Council has the legal power to record meetings by virtue of both S111 

Local Government Act 1972 and S1 Localism Act 2011 (the general power 
of competence). 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i10 Council 240915 Audio Visual Recording of Council.doc 

 

15. The Openness of Public Bodies Regulations 2014 allows members of the 
public and others the freedom to record Council meetings using whatever 
means they choose. 

16. It is not proposed at this time to broadcast a live transmission of meetings, 
however, later publication is planned. A party who believes that they have 
been libeled during a meeting would have an action against both the 
person making the statement and the Council as “broadcaster”. The 
Council will need to be wary of this going forward and will need to consider 
editing such content “out” of any published recordings. 

17. It will be necessary to make attendees at meetings aware of the recording 
and potential broadcast of the meeting.  

18. The Council’s contract with Nuway will require amending and any changes 
must be carried out in accordance with Contract Procedure Rules 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
19. The supplier of the PA and Conference system installed within the Chamber 

has quoted £3,650 plus VAT to enable the facility to record meetings and 
the provision of training. The purchase, installation and training costs will be 
met from existing Members support budgets. Costs of maintenance and 
repair will be included as part of the current Chamber system contract and 
so will continue to be funded from existing budget. 

 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  
 
20. A procurement waiver from Contract Procedure Rules has been completed 

and agreed to enable Nuway Audio Visual (the current providers of the 
Council Chamber and conference system to commission and install the 
necessary equipment as part of the current arrangements. 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS  
 
21. There are no specific Human resource implications associated with this 

report. 
 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS  

22.  A Business Case relating to the webcasting and audio visual recording of 
Council meetings was approved by the ICT Governance Board (IGB) in 
June 2015 and the ICT resource requirements to deliver this project have 
been allocated and reflected in the Technology Forward Plan. 

23. ICT will need to work with the third party supplier to finalise the storage 
requirements/agree the optimum video resolution, but based on the 
estimated file size/number of meetings per year and assuming a 12 month 
retention period for the local back-up copies, there are no anticipated 
issues with utilising existing capacity within the Council’s Storage Area 
Network (SAN) for this purpose. 

 



S:\Legal_Committees\2015-16\COUNCIL\Reports Final\240915\i10 Council 240915 Audio Visual Recording of Council.doc 

24. The additional hardware to be supplied by the third party supplier will be 
accommodated in the existing server rack used for the Council’s Chamber 
Voting and Conference system. 
 

25. It is understood that any occasional editing of the videos can be achieved 
using the online video editor provided by YouTube and as such it will not 
be necessary to procure any additional software for this purpose.  Facilities 
also exist to provide subtitles and closed captions, where required. 
 

26. Publishing the video/audio content to the internet, via the Council’s 
YouTube channel, will reduce the dependency on Council systems for 
accessing video and audio files of meetings and should ensure 
accessibility for citizens from multiple devices. 

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
27. The proposal to provide an audio recording of Council meetings enable’s 

greater access to local decision making to those who may not otherwise be 
able to attend Council meeting e.g. due to disability. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
28. Consultation has taken place with the relevant departments of the Council in 

producing this report. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

29. Report to Council 22nd May 2015 Audio And Visual Recording Of Council 
Meetings 

 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 
Andrew Sercombe Governance & Member Services Manger Tel 01302 734354 
Andrew.sercombe@doncaster.gov.uk 
 

 
Roger Harvey 

Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic services 








































































	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Council Meeting held on 30th July, 2015 (Pages A.1 - A.21).
	7 Statutory Youth Justice Plan 2015/16.
	i7 Council 240915 YOS Plan 2015 2016 Appendix

	8 Sheffield City Region Devolution Deal Update.
	SCR Devolution Ambition Submission Appendix
	Document verification:
	1. Executive Summary
	1.1. The scale of our ambitions
	1.2.  Our Proposals

	2. Investing in the North and addressing our Productivity Challenge
	2.1. Kickstarting the Northern Powerhouse
	2.2. The business case: a productive SCR means a productive UK
	1. SCR has underused comparative and competitive advantage
	2. SCR’s productivity is below the national average (along with other northern economies)


	3.  Our devolution proposals
	3.1. 30 proposals across six themes
	3.2. An integrated 21st Century Transport Network
	3.3. Business Growth, Innovation and Exports
	3.4.  Skills, employment and education
	3.5. Public assets, planning and housing and commercial development
	3.6. Financial settlement
	3.7. Greater accountability of national programmes to the SCR

	1.
	2.
	3.
	4.
	5.
	6.
	7.
	8.
	9.
	10.
	11.
	12.
	13.
	14.
	15.
	16.
	17.
	18.
	19.
	20.
	21.
	22.
	23.
	24.
	Give the SCR powers to expedite delivery on strategic sites through: 
	a) Powers to create Development Zones in defined areas of the City Region.  These will have ‘Enterprise Zone’-like powers to speed up land acquisition and assembly, infrastructure development, housing, commercial and industrial development, and to incentivise jobs growth.  With the approval of the SCR, and with the agreement of the Cabinet(s) of the affected local authorities, the SCR may also establish Development Corporations, which can be designated with some or all of the following powers:
	b) Offer up to 100% business rate discounts to new developments for a fixed period;
	c) Ability to award Enhanced Capital Allowances on a case by case basis within the agreed Treasury threshold;
	d) Ability to develop a single masterplan for a DC area;
	e) Ability to assume planning powers for the DC area, and to vary planning fees; and 
	f) Compulsory Purchase Order powers.
	25.
	26.
	27.
	28.
	29
	30.
	4.  A plan underpinned by a single pot for economic development in the Sheffield City Region
	4.1. A single pot for the Sheffield City Region to drive growth
	4.2. The key principles of the single pot:
	4.3.  Pump priming the single-pot – what would it comprise?
	4.4.  How would the Pot be delivered?

	5. How an SCR Mayoral Combined Authority and Local Enterprise Partnership would operate
	5.1. Utilising our existing arrangements
	5.2.  A Mayoral Combined Authority
	5.3. Features of the Mayoral Combined Authority
	5.4. Relationship between the Mayor and the Local Enterprise Partnership
	5.5.  The Geography

	6.  Public Service Reform
	frontcover.pdf
	Document verification:
	1. Executive Summary
	1.1. The scale of our ambitions
	1.2.  Our Proposals

	1.
	2. Investing in the North and addressing our Productivity Challenge
	2.1. Kickstarting the Northern Powerhouse
	2.2. The business case: a productive SCR means a productive UK
	1. SCR has underused comparative and competitive advantage
	2. SCR’s productivity is below the national average (along with other northern economies)


	1.
	1. 2F
	3.  Our devolution proposals
	3.1. 30 proposals across six themes
	3.2. An integrated 21st Century Transport Network
	3.3. Business Growth, Innovation and Exports
	3.4.  Skills, employment and education
	3.5. Public assets, planning and housing and commercial development
	3.6. Financial settlement
	3.7. Greater accountability of national programmes to the SCR

	1.
	2.
	3.
	4.
	5.
	6.
	7.
	8.
	9.
	10.
	11.
	12.
	13.
	14.
	15.
	16.
	17.
	18.
	19.
	20.
	21.
	22.
	23.
	Give the SCR powers to expedite delivery on strategic sites through: 
	24.
	a) Powers to create Development Zones in defined areas of the City Region.  These will have ‘Enterprise Zone’-like powers to speed up land acquisition and assembly, infrastructure development, housing, commercial and industrial development, and to incentivise jobs growth.  With the approval of the SCR, and with the agreement of the Cabinet(s) of the affected local authorities, the SCR may also establish Development Corporations, which can be designated with some or all of the following powers:
	b) Offer up to 100% business rate discounts to new developments for a fixed period
	c) Ability to award Enhanced Capital Allowances on a case by case basis within the agreed Treasury threshold.
	d) Ability to develop a single masterplan for a DC area
	e) Ability to assume planning powers for the DC area, and to vary planning fees
	f) Compulsory Purchase Order powers
	25.
	26.
	27.
	28.
	29
	30.
	1.
	1.
	4. A plan underpinned by a single pot for economic development in the Sheffield City Region
	4.1. A single pot for the Sheffield City Region to drive growth
	4.2. The key principles of the single pot:
	4.3.  Pump priming the single-pot – what would it comprise?
	4.4.  How would the Pot be delivered?

	5. How an SCR Mayoral Combined Authority and Local Enterprise Partnership would operate
	1.1. Utilising
	5.1. our existing arrangements
	5.2.  A Mayoral Combined Authority
	5.3. Features of the Mayoral Combined Authority
	5.4. Relationship between the Mayor and the Local Enterprise Partnership
	5.5. The Geography

	6.  Public Service Reform



	9 Appointment of a Member and Vice-Chair to the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.
	10 Audio Visual Recording of Council Meetings - Update Report.
	14 To receive the Minutes of the following Joint Authorities:-

